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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

SUFFOLK, SS      SUPREME JUDICIAL COURT 

        FOR SUFFOLK COUNTY 

        CASE NO. BS-2018-039 

 

 

IN RE: JOHN H. FARO, ESQ 

(RESPONDENT). 

 

VERIFIED RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO  

THE IMPOSITION OF RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE 

 

The Petitioner, JOHN H. FARO, ESQ., (FARO), appearing pro se, herein notices and 

serves his Response In Opposition To The Petition For Imposition Of Reciprocal Discipline, based 

upon the Final Order of the Director of the United States Patent & Trademark Office date August 

2, 2017 & February 9, 2018.   As set forth hereinafter, the Final Order is anything but “final”, and 

the sequence of review of the Patent Office determinations of misconduct is subject to review 

under the 35 USC 32, and the Administrative Procedures Act (5 USC 701 et seq).    

 

I. BACKGROUND 

The Respondent, John H. Faro (FARO) is an attorney with approximately forty-nine (49) 

years combined experience in corporate (16 years) and private (33 years) patent and commercial 

litigation practice.   FARO was first admitted to practice in Massachusetts in 1969 (active), in 

Delaware in 1970 (inactive), in Ohio 1971 (inactive) and Florida (active).   FARO became 

registered to practice before U. S. Patent & Trademark Office (Patent Office) in 1971 

(“Registered Patent Attorney”).   Over the course of his professional career, FARO has filed, and 

had issued, in excess of 150 patents, based upon applications written by him.   Over the course of 

his professional career FARO has had at least five (5) patents, which were written by him, asserted 

against IBM, Abbott Labs, Organon (U.S. operating division of Akzo Nobel Nederland BV); 
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Damon Instruments, Inc.; and, Odebrecht Construction Corp. (Florida subsidiary of Odebrecht 

international).   

Genesis of Complaint Against FARO - In 2002, FARO took over responsibility for patent 

prosecution, before the Patent Office, for a patent application which had been prepared by another 

attorney (“’519 Patent Application”).   The ’519 Patent Application had been finally rejected when 

FARO assume representation in 2002.   FARO refiled the ’519 Patent Application and 

prosecuted/advocated its allowance over the next three (3) years.   In 2005, FARO was 

unsuccessful in convincing the Patent Office to reverse its final rejection (also “November 14, 

2005, Final Rejection”).    FARO thereafter reviewed the November 14, 2005, Final Rejection with 

inventor, and with the assignee, of ’519 Patent Application.   This November 14, 2005, Final 

Rejection from the Patent Office, contained a number of suggestions by the Patent Examiner to 

amended the rejected claims to secure their allowance, specifically, amendments to the two (2) 

pending patent method claims, while persisting in the of the rejection  of the medical device claims, 

for the “key component” of the invention.   The Examiner suggestions were unacceptable to 

FARO, and, after consultation with inventor, and with the assignee, FARO filed another Notice 

of Appeal, followed thereafter by Applicants’ Appeal Brief in 2006.   The consultation with 

inventor and the recommendation to file an appeal, were conveyed to the inventor, and to the 

assignee, via email on November 29, 2005, 

Patent Protection Unavailable - The Board of Appeals affirmed the Final Rejection of all 

of the claims (both method and medical device claims), in a Decision dated June 1, 2009.   This 

Decision was res judicata, as to subject matter of the rejected claims on appeal; and, preclusive of 

pursuit of patent claims for an invention that was not “patentable distinct” from the subject matter 

of the claims on held unpatentable.   FARO never received the Board of Appeals Decision, and 
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consequently was uniformed as to its existence and unable to apprise the client of its existence.   It 

was not unusual for an appeal to languish several years, and FARO periodically checked on the 

status of the appeal (generally every six (6) months).   FARO subsequently obtained a copy of June 

1, 2009, Decision by having an Associate in Alexandria Virginia physically inspect the ’519 Patent 

Application file.    

Attorney-Client Relationship Becomes Adversarial – In October 2011, when a copy the 

Decision was forwarded to the assignee of the ’519 Patent Application, litigation counsel for the 

assignee insisted on a teleconference with the assignee to review the Decision (which in the words 

of the litigation was “self-explanatory”).  FARO declined to participate in such teleconference to 

simple re-hash the Patent Office rejections, at which point the assignee’s litigation counsel 

threatened to sue FARO for malpractice, for the abandonment of the patent application after the 

June 1, 2009, Board Decision. 

 

II. SUMMARY OF CHRONOLOGY/HISTORY OF PRIOR DISCIPLINARY 

PROCEEDINGS 

 

Status of Review Of Final Order - The review of disciplinary actions by the Patent Office 

is controlled by 35 USC 32,   The Final Order, for which reciprocal discipline is sought, is 

currently under review by Federal District Court in the Eastern District of Virginia, FARO v. 

MATAL, Case No 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB (ED VA  2018)   Under the Administrative Procedures 

Act, reviewing courts consider the “whole record” of the administrative agency, and set aside 

agency actions that are, inter alia, “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not 

in accordance with law;” “without observance of procedure required by law;” or “unsupported by 

substantial evidence.” 5 U.S.C. § 706 (2006).  Garcia v. U.S., 442 Fed.Appx. 745, 748 (4th Cir  

2010).    

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=5USCAS706&originatingDoc=I5074a44ac8a711e086cdc006bc7eafe7&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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The Petition filed by FARO in the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of 

Virginia, is annexed hereto as Exh “D”, asserts and documents multiple instances of the OED 

Director violation of the 5 USC 706(A) to (D) & (F).    

 

THE FINAL ORDER IS NOT SUPPORT 

BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE & CONTRARY TO LAW 

For purposes of this Response, Respondent focuses upon three (3) areas which undermine both 

the legal, factual and equitable support for the Final Order of suspension, any one of which taken alone, or in 

combination, warrant relief from the Final Order.   The Final Order is based upon the Initial Opinion of the 

ALJ who presided over the FARO disciplinary proceeding on May 11-12, 2015.    

A. No Subject Matter Jurisdiction - As set forth below, the OED lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction to initiate a disciplinary proceeding, because of the OED Director failure to comport his 

investigation with the mandatory requirements of 37 CFR 11.22, which is condition precedent to submission 

of his investigation to a neutral Committee on Discipline, for a determination of probable cause (in any).   

More specifically, on September 10, 2014, FARO, in response to an OED RFI under 37 CFR 11.22, 

explicitly apprised the OED Director of the prior filed, parallel pending malpractice litigation in the Federal 

District Court between the OED grievant and FARO, involving identical issues, as in the grievance before 

the OED (OED Trail Exh GOV #10) – annexed hereto as Exh “A”, and such information (likely favorable 

to FARO) was forthcoming in the immediate future.   On September 10, 2014, FARO explicitly requested 

the OED Director abate the OED Director investigation until such prior filed parallel pending malpractice 

litigation between the OED grievant and FARO, had been resolved.   The OED Director chose to ignore 

FARO’s September 10, 20141 request to abate is investigation, and illegally concluded his investigation in 

                                                
1   The one (1) year period for the OED Director conduct of an investigation of the grievance filed 

against FARO did not begin to run until September 11, 2014, the date of FARO’s formal written 
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May 2015, notwithstanding, the malpractice litigation was set for trial in July 2015,  and, that the one (1) 

period for concluding his investigation did not toll until  September 10, 2015.   The OED Director premature 

and incomplete investigation necessarily, violated 37 CFR 11.22(d), because it excluded “all information and 

evidence” relevant to the grievance against FARO, including all “information and evidence” that was in fact 

favorable to FARO.   The OED Director thereafter, in violation of the OED Rules, illegally obtained a 

probable cause determination from a Committee on Discipline; and, thereafter initiated the prosecution of the 

disciplinary proceeding against FARO, based upon his illegally obtained determination of probable cause, in 

violation of FARO’s 4th and 5th amendment rights, Goodwin v. Metts, 885 F.2d 157, (4th Cir.  1989); 

followed Lewis v. McDorman, 820 F.Supp. 1001, 1004, (WD Va  1992).   The OED Director had 

both the discretion, and the means to abate, or postpone, the investigation of the grievance against 

FARO, under the circumstances evident the FARO case (35 USC 32, 37 CFR 11.34(e)).   The OED 

Director’s “willful blindness” to the infirmities in the OED Director investigation2, and, the 

knowledge that “probable cause” determination by the Committee on Discipline had been unfairly 

influenced, as having been based upon incomplete and a biased presentation, further underscores 

the inequities involved in this case, the FARO entitlement for relief from the Final Order, Global-

Tech Appliances, Inc. v. SEB S.A., 131 S. Ct. 2060, 2070-71 (2011)..    

 

B. False Certification of OED Trial Exh GOV #1 As “Complete” - The OED conduct of the 

Trial of the disciplinary proceeding against FARO, on May 10-11, 2016, was not “in accordance 

                                                

response to OED RFI dated July 11, 2014, 37 CFR 11.34(3).   Accordingly, the one (1) period for 

the OED Director conduct of his investigation of FARO did not end on May 14, 2015, as 

represented by OED appellate counsel, but rather on September 11, 2015– after the Federal 

District Court made its rulings and findings on each of the FARO Motion in Limine , and the FARO 

Motion for Summary Judgment..  

 

Director tolling letter option); and, proceeded to ignore the FARO’s September 11, 2014, explicit 

request for an abatement of the OED investigation, OED Trial Exh GOV #10 
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with law”, and such Trial was conducted “without observance of procedure required by law” 5 

U.S.C. § 706 (2006).  Garcia v. U.S., 442 Fed. Appx. 745, 748 (4th Cir  2010).   For example, the 

OED Director falsely certified, pursuant to 28 USC 1746, and under penalty of perjury, that OED 

Trial Exhibit GOV #1, (the Patent Office copy of the ‘519 Patent Application), was a “correct 

copy” of  the “secret” ‘519 Patent Application in the Patent Office.   This OED certification was 

false.   The “copy” of OED Trial Exh GOV #1 was anything but complete, and specifically 

excluded, , “information that which may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of the registered 

practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may have occurred”,  OED Trial Exh 

GOV #5:1, OED July 11, 2014, RFI to FARO @ page 1.   Accordingly, the omitted information 

was material to the FARO defense.   The false certification of OED Trial GOV #1, as “complete”, 

is undisputed, see EFC #1-5. Exhibits “A” & ”B”, Rule 83.5 Petition, Exh. 5, Motion Under 37 

CFR 11.55(h) Re-Open Disciplinary Proceedings, Exhibits “A” & ”B”   This false certification, 

and/or spoliation (by “alteration” of the official government document), of the OED Trial Exh 

GOV #1, was known to the OED prior to trial, and, the consequence of this spoliation 

(concealment of material information in the patent file (OED Trial Exh #1), permeated the entire 

trial and ALJ Initial Opinion & Order, cf Simone v. VSL Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Slip Copy 

2018 WL 1365848 (MD  2018)    

“In the Fourth Circuit, for a court to impose some form of sanctions for spoliation, any 

fault—be it bad faith, willfulness, gross negligence, or ordinary negligence—is a 

sufficiently culpable mindset.” Victor Stanley, Inc. v. Creative Pipe, Inc., 269 F.R.D. 497, 

529 (D. Md. 2010) 

 

This false certification is discussed in the FARO Motion under 37 CFR 11.55(h), when the 

Director refused to re-open the disciplinary proceeding),   

 

C. The Director abused her discretion when she denied the FARO Motion under 37 CFR 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=5USCAS706&originatingDoc=I5074a44ac8a711e086cdc006bc7eafe7&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=5USCAS706&originatingDoc=I5074a44ac8a711e086cdc006bc7eafe7&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2023136538&pubNum=0000344&originatingDoc=I5eedead02b3d11e8b25db53553f40f1b&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_344_529&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Keycite)#co_pp_sp_344_529
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2023136538&pubNum=0000344&originatingDoc=I5eedead02b3d11e8b25db53553f40f1b&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_344_529&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Keycite)#co_pp_sp_344_529
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11.55(h), by her refusal to re-open the disciplinary proceeding, when it was evident that the OED had falsely 

certified the completeness of its principle trial exhibit (OED Trial Exh GOV #1), and thereby concealed 

information that was inconsistent with the ALJ determinations relative to professional misconduct and 

sanctions (if any),    Consequently, the Final Order is based upon factual findings by the ALJ, who 

presided over the disciplinary proceeding, that are inconsistent with one another, and, an ALJ’s 

convoluted analysis which cannot support a reasoned decision.   More specifically, the ALJ Initial 

Opinion, relative to FARO’s perceived acts and omissions which warrant OED discipline, is unintelligible, 

rendering considered appellate review of the Final Order elusive, if at all,; and, the sanction of “suspension” 

is based the OED misleading the ALJ that the abandonment of FARO’s client’s patent application was 

“intentional” abandoned, and FARO’s client’s patent were irremediably forfeited or lost.     

 

The OED Director has the burden of proving alleged violations by clear and convincing 

evidence, 37 C.F.R. § 11.49.  Respondent thereafter must prove any affirmative defense by clear 

and convincing evidence.  Id., ECF 1-4, ALJ Initial Opinion and Order @2.   The OED 

Director’s burden is only satisfied when he proves each element of an alleged violation of the 

OED rules, by clear and convincing evidence. 

The following is but a sample of the ALJ analysis and findings in his Initial Opinion & Order, upon 

which the Final Order is based 

ALJ findings are inconsistent with a finding of neglect 

Respondent ( F A R O )  worked competently to achieve EPRT's goals from 

2002 until 2006, when he filed the Second Appeal.   After doing so, he resigned 

himself to waiting for a PTO response. According to the OED Director's theory, 

Respondent received that response in 2009.  Rather than file an appeal, as he had done 

twice already, Respondent chose to ignore the Board Decision.  He then proceeded to 

stonewall and avoid Ms. Blake for more than a year.  Missing from the OED Director's 

theory is any hint of Respondent's purported motive for this sharp shift in attitude.  As 

of 2009, his relationship with EPRT and its personnel remained congenial.  In fact, 

he was handling a number of other patent and trademark matters for the company at 
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the time.  The OED Director has provided no reason why Respondent would act in 

the manner alleged in the Complaint. The Court is therefore persuaded that Respondent 

did not receive the copies of the Board Decision or the Notice of Abandonment in 

2009.   Having failed to receive the documents when they were initially sent, 

Respondent did not become aware of the actual status of the '519 Application until 

October 2011, when he asked his associate to personally check the physical file.3  His 

e-mail to Ms. Blake on July 30, 2010, was therefore not deceptive or dishonest.  

Accordingly, the Court finds that the OED Director failed to prove, by clear and 

convincing evidence, that Respondent violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4). (emphasis 

added), ECF 1- 4:23, Petition Exh. No. 2, Initial Opinion @ page 22 
 

ALJ findings are contrary to Patent Office Rules of Practice 

Notwithstanding the ALJ acknowledgement of FARO’s competency & diligence, during the 

prosecution of the EPRT during 2002 through 2006 (when the appeal was filed), and his lack of receipt of the 

Board of Appeals Decision, (of June 1, 2009), the ALJ found FARO guilty of neglect of the ‘519 Patent 

Application, because of his use of a “virtual office” (executive suite), for his correspondence 

address. in lieu of a traditional (physical) office address, which decision caused FARO’s 

“delayed awareness” of the Board of Appeal Decision (in June 2009), 

The Court finds that Respondent's neglect of the '519 Application stemmed 

primarily from his decision to move to the 28 W. Flagler address.  Had he remained 

in his original office, or changed his correspondence address to his home office, he 

would have timely received the Board Decision and the Notice of Abandonment. ECF 
1- 4:28; ALJ Initial Opinion @ 27   

 

The Director Final Order, to her credit, has abandoned the foregoing ALJ rational for 

“neglect”, based upon FARO’s use of a virtual office as his “correspondence address” (in apparent 

deference to Federal Circuit opinion in Tafas v. Doll, 559 F.3d 1345, 1351-52 (2009)); and, instead 

cobbled together a different set of facts, to predicate a finding of neglect.   Obviously, FARO did 

not have an opportunity to address, or challenge the Director’s novel reasoning in this new opinion, 

based upon her new factual construct.   The ALJ determination of “neglect” was unsupportable for 

                                                
3 As discussed supra, Respondent's delayed awareness of these documents was due to his own negligent 

and neglectful conduct. 
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the reasons stated in his Initial Opinion, the Director’s perogative, in her exercise of her appellate 

function, was limited to vacate the ALJ holding of neglect, and/or reverse his neglect finding.   

Accordingly, the Director, has exceeded her authority, in “restructuring” the Initial Decision to 

correct the ALJ’s misapplication of the law relative to a finding of neglect. 

ALJ findings are speculative & attorney sanction unwarranted 

Notwithstanding that (a) the Board of Patent Appeals sustained the Patent Examiner’s Final 

Rejection of all of the claims of the ‘519 Patent Application were unpatentable, (b) the absence of 

any evidence that further prosecution or appeal was permissible4; and (c) the Trial Record was 

totally devoid of any evidence of adverse business consequence (e.g. lost sales, competitive 

encroachment on its market, etc.), the ALJ speculated that the EPRT failure to obtain a patent had 

some adverse business consequence; and, attributed the such adverse business consequence to the 

acts and/or omissions (“delay awareness”) of FARO.    

…the Court has no way to determine what percentage of EPRT's payments were in vain. 

Respondent did represent EPRT's interests competently, at least for a time (from 2002 to 

2006 when the application was appealed, ALJ Initial Opinion @ 22).   Without a clear 

guide, it is simply impossible to arrive at a non-arbitrary dollar figure representing EPRT's 

loss.   Nonetheless, there is no plausible dispute that the client's attempts to secure a patent 

for the '519 Application left it economically weaker.  Nor is there any dispute that 

Respondent's neglect and misconduct exacerbated EPRT's suffering.  Additionally, EPRT 

has expended more than $170,000 in litigation costs5 against Respondent, with at least one 

lawsuit still ongoing.  This merits an increased sanction against Respondent (emphasis 

added). ECF 1- 4:29; ALJ Initial Opinion @ 28  
 

The Director denial of FARO motion under 37 CFR 11.55(h) to re-open the disciplinary 
proceeding, was an abuse of discretion and compounded the OED Director corruption 
of the disciplinary proceeding against FARO 

                                                
4   The Board of Patent Appeals decision is res judicata as to the claims on appeal; and, preclusive 

of solicitation of patent prosecution of claims which are not patentably distinct from the claims 

found unpatentable 

 
5  The EPRT malpractice case against FARO was filed and prosecuted from and after EPRT went 

out of business in 2009; and, was being handled on a contingent fee arrangement. 
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Had the OED Director included the complete Patent Office file of the ‘519 Patent Application, in the 

OED Trial Exh GOV #1, the ALJ would not have been misled as to the status of the ‘519 Patent Application, 

and/or whether an appeal of the claims for the medical device (Claim 25) were potentially patentable, See 

FARO Motion to Re-Open the Disciplinary Proceeding Under Rule 37 CFR 11.55(h), ECF 1-5:63-87,  

Had the OED Director investigation included the factual findings and legal conclusion by the Federal 

District Court (in the parallel malpractice litigation between the OED grievant and FARO), specifically, the 

Daubert hearing transcript, (ECF #215) and the Summary Judgment transcript ECF #223) in prior filed 

malpractice litigation, the ALJ would not have to speculated as the economic impact (if any) upon EPRT 

from the absence of patent protection. 

 

IV. PRIOR DISPOSITIONS OF VIRTUALLY THE SAME ALLEGATIONS OF 

MISCONDUCT BY EPRT IN FAVOR OF FARO 

 

A. Prior Filed Malpractice Litigation By Grievant Against FARO – The same 

allegations of misconduct, (as formed the basis of the OED Complaint, before the ALJ, and Final 

Order), were asserted in a prior filed, pending malpractice lawsuit by same grievant as in the 

disciplinary proceeding before the Patent Office, Thrisoint PTY Ltd. & EPRT Technologies 

(EPRT) v. John H Faro & Technology Business Law Group, LLC, Case No. l3-CV-23893-

HUCK (SD Fla 2013).   As briefly discussed hereinafter, the filing of the malpractice 

lawsuit on October 23, 2013, preceded both the filing grievances by EPRT with the Florida 

Bar and the Office of Enrollment and Discipline in the US Patent Office.   The same issues, 

relevant to professional misconduct, were asserted by the grievant/plaintiff in the 

malpractice lawsuit.   On September 11, 2014, FARO advised the OED Director of the 

prior filed pending malpractice litigation by the OED grievant, that the issues involved 
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were essentially the same as in the malpractice complaint (Third Amended Complaint); 

and requested that the OED Director “abate” the investigation of the OED grievance , until 

the malpractice case had decided the issues in common to both.    

Under the OED Rules (37 CFR 11.34(d)(3)), there is a one (1) statute of limitations 

for filing a formal complaint, which began to run on September 11, 2014 (the date FARO 

response to the OED Request for Information (RFI)).   The OED Director arbitrarily 

concluded his investigation prior to September 11, 2015 (in May 2015), while the 

malpractice lawsuit was pending.   OED Rules require that an investigation include “all 

information and evidence” (37 CFR 11.22(d)).   The OED RFI has interpreted these 

requirement to include “information that which may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of 

the registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may have occurred”.  

OED Trial Exh GOV #5 @1, RFI #2 @ page 1     

The Docket Sheet for the malpractice litigation, specifically, the Scheduling Order 

(ECF #105), set the malpractice case for a Jury trial on July 13, 2015, or approximately 

two (2) months before the tolling of the statute of limitations.   Accordingly, there were 

no legal or administrative requirements to conclude the investigation in May 2015; and/or, 

to file a complaint against FARO before the tolling of limitation period on September 11, 

2015.   More specifically, the Patent Office had the discretion and power to toll the running 

the one (1) year statute of limitation, upon agreement with FARO, where the investigation 

could not be completed within the one (1) period, to permit to include “all information and 

evidence” relevant to the grievance against FARO.   The OED Director simple ignored the 

FARO request to abate the investigation on September 11, 2014; and, his mandatory 

statutory obligations under 37 CFR 11.22(d).    
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B. Information and Evidence Excluded From OED Director Investigation Was 

Prejudicial to FARO – On July 26, 2015, (before the expiration of the one (1) limitations 

period under 37 CFR 11.34(d)(3)) the District Court, in the malpractice litigation, 

conducted a Daubert hearing on FARO’s Motion in Limine, to strike the EPRT damage 

expert report and exclude the EPRT damage expert testimony, based upon lost sales from 

and after 2007.   In granting the FARO Motion in Limine, the District Court found the 

expert report (testimony based upon such report) unreliable because it failed to consider 

that (a) in 2008, EPRT had discontinued the product for which patent protection (‘519  

Patent Application) was sought; (b) EPRT had abandoned a number of the foreign 

application, based upon the ‘519 Patent Application; (c) EPRT had invented a new 

improved replacement product in 2008; and, (d) EPRT had FARO file a new patent 

application for replacement product in 2008.    

At the trial of the OED Complaint, FARO testified, in May 2015, that the inventor, 

David Estes, (EPRT Director of Engineering), told him in 2008, at the time of the FARO  

filing of the new patent application for new improved replacement product, to refrain from 

investing any more fees in the soliciting the allowance of the ‘519 Patent Application,    

Had the OED Director not prematurely and arbitrarily concluded his investigation, in May 

2015, the District Court findings in July 2015, would have been available to support 

FARO’s trial testimony.   

This malpractice lawsuit was subsequently dismissed with prejudice on 

September 15, 2015, Stipulation of Dismissal (with prejudice) annexed hereto as Exh 

“B” 

C. Florida Bar Grievant By EPRT Against FARO – The same allegations of 
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misconduct, (as formed the basis of the OED Complaint, before the ALJ, and Final Order), were 

also asserted in a prior filed, grievance filed with Florida Bar, Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Esq. 

– Case No. 16-1408, (Florida Supreme Court).   On or about the first week in October 2016 (during 

the appeal of the ALJ Initial Opinion & Order), FARO personally met with the Florida Bar (Miami) 

Counsel, and reviewed the FARO Trial exhibits for the May 2015, disciplinary hearing, AND, the 

Federal District Court findings and ruling in July & August 2015, in the malpractice case – which 

the OED had successfully excluded at the May 2015 Trial before the ALJ.    

The EPRT Florida Bar grievance against FARO, based upon his prosecution 

of the EPRT ‘519 Patent Application before the Patent Office, was thereafter 

dismissed on February 8, 2017, Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice Exh “C”. 

 

V. FARO OPPOSITION TO IMPOSITION OF RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE 

Reciprocal discipline in unwarranted in this case because: 

a. the procedure in the other jurisdiction (Patent Office) did not provide reasonable 

notice or opportunity of FARO to be heard –  

(1) The OED Director failure to comport his investigation with the 

requirements of law (37 CFR 11.22(d)), by his premature and arbitrary 

conclusion of his investigation in May 2015, effected the exclusion of the 

Federal District Court findings of fact and evidentiary ruling in the parallel 

prior filed malpractice litigation, that were favorable to FARO.   More 

specifically, the findings of fact and conclusions of law by the Federal 

District Court on July 20, 2015 (granting FARO Motion In Limine, 

excluding EPRT damage expert) and in August 20, 2015, (granting, in part, 

FARO’s Motion for Summary Judgement, established that not only did 
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EPRT not sustain any economic harm from the Patent Office refusal to issue 

a patent on the ‘519 Patent Application, but also that EPRT foreign 

equivalents of the ‘519 Patent Application, were abandoned by EPRT 

because it had discontinued its original product, and developed a new 

replacement product. 

This exclusion of “information that which may justify or exonerate the 

alleged actions of the registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of 

any violations that may have occurred”6, necessarily unfairly influenced and 

biased the Committee on Discipline determination of “probable cause” of 

an OED rule violation, and prejudiced FARO’s opportunity to defend 

himself (be heard).     

(2) The subsequent repeated frustration by the Director, in her refusal to address 

the legal implications of the OED Director arbitrary termination of the OED 

mandatory requirement for an investigation of a grievance, in apparent 

violation 37 CFR 11.22, has prevented  meaningful appellate review of the 

OED subject matter jurisdiction to initiate and prosecute a disciplinary 

proceeding against FARO    

b.  there was significant infirmity of proof establishing the misconduct,  

(1) The OED false certification, under 28 U.S.C. § 1746, of the authenticity of 

OED Trial Exh GOV #1, as “complete”, effectively concealed from FARO 

& the ALJ, material “…information that which may justify or exonerate the 

alleged actions of the registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of 

                                                
6   OED Trial Exh GOV #5:1, OED July 11, 2014, RFI to FARO @ page 1 
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any violations that may have occurred”7.   As set herein, this concealed 

information was material to the FARO defense.   More specifically, the 

OED affirmatively certified under 28 U.S.C. § 1746, (under penalty of 

perjury), that OED Trial Exh GOV #1, as “complete”, which was false.   

Such false certification is “spoliation” (alteration of public record), and 

intended to conceal from FARO & the ALJ, that (i) a Petition to Revive ‘519 

Patent Application had been filed, for unintentional abandonment, in 

December 2014, and, (ii) the Petitions Office Decision on May 2, 2015, 

Granting the Petition to Revive which reinstated the ’519 Patent Application 

in the Patent Office, immediately prior to trial.   The reinstatement of the 

‘519 Patent Application was obviously inconsistent with OED narrative of 

FARO’s intentional wrongdoing, and that EPRT patent right were 

irremediably lost.   The ALJ Initial Opinion & Order reflects his being 

misled in respect to each of (i) & (ii) above, with respect to the sanction he 

imposed upon FARO. 

(2) The OED false certification, under 28 U.S.C. § 1746, of the authenticity of 

OED Exh GOV #1, as “complete”, is crime in Florida, Fla, Stats. 831.02 

(False Uttering) 

(3)  The OED introduction of evidence, and solicitation of testimony of a 

Federal Court Ordered mediation, violates the confidentially of such 

proceedings, Fla. Stat. 44.405,; 

c. imposition of the same discipline would result in grave injustice; and/or   

                                                
7   OED Trial Exh GOV #5:1, OED July 11, 2014, RFI to FARO @ page 1 
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(1) The OED procedures in place for the conduct of investigation of a grievance 

against an attorney, under 37 CFR 11.22, are mandatory; and, the OED 

Director compliance therewith conditions precedent to his solicitation of a 

probable cause determination, from the Committee on Discipline.   The 

apparent failure of the OED Director to comport his investigation with 37 

CFR 11.22(d), by his premature conclusion thereof in May 2015, when he 

had reason to believe information and evidence, relevant to grievance was 

forthcoming on or before July 13, 2015.    departure therefrom 

circumscribes the OED Director,  

d. the misconduct established does not justify the same discipline in this 

Commonwealth;  

(1) there is no comparable misconduct in the Commonwealth, and the asserted 

professional violations for failing to successfully prosecute a patent 

application to allowance.   

 

VERIFICATION UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY 

 I hereby declare, under penalty of perjury, that the foregoing statements in this Verified 

Response In Opposition To the Imposition of Reciprocal Discipline, are accurate and truthful, and 

those statements, where made upon information and belief, are believed to be truthful and accurate. 

 
John H. Faro, Esq.,  6/25/2018 
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JOHN H. FARO, ESQ. 

FARO & ASSOCIATES 

1395 Brickell Avenue – Suite 800 

Miami, FL 33131 

Phone: 305-761-6921 

Fax: 305-726-0029 

 

Email: JohnF75712@aol.com 

 JohnF75712@gmail.com 

 

 

  

mailto:JohnF75712@aol.com
mailto:JohnF75712@gmail.com
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I.uw Ollices Of

FARO & ASSOCIATES
1395 Brickell Avenue - Suite 800

Miami. Florida 33129
Email: JohnF75712'il aol.com

Telephone (305) 761-6921
Facsimile (305) 726-0029
Evenings (305) ?6 I -n92|

September i1. 2014
Via Facsunite 571-273-OlO

Jenmter A. Harchick. Esq.
OED Staff Attorney
MS: OED
P.O. Box 1450
Alexandria, VA 22313-1450

Dear Ms. Harchick:

Re OED File k G23M
Request for h!larmation

( 'omplaint by EPT Technologies vs John H Faro

The same issues raised by EPRT with OED complaint against me are the subject of
litigation now pending in the Federal District for the Southern District of Florida, 7'hrisoint P/v.
Ltd & Epr/ Techno/ogies. Inc. v. John H. Faro Et Al. Case No. 13-CV-23893- IIUCK/SULLIV AN
(DC SD Fla)'.

1. Enclosed is the most recent EPRT Amended Complaint (malpractice) and my
Motion to Dismiss. I would request that the OED review of this matter be abated and permit the
judicial review to be concluded first. insofar as the same issues and same parties (in the EPRT
Complaint to the OED) are now before the Federal Court.

2. It is clear from the prosecution history, that the EPRT patent application. which is
the subject of the EPRT complaint, was thorouuhly prosecuted and the finally determined to lack
patentable subject matter. It is also further apparent that the continued pursuit of this EPRT
application in the Patent Of fice was not permitted without first obtaining the approval of the
Commissioner of Patents. 37 CFR 1.1982 There was no basis for either reopening examination

' This is second lawsuit Gled auainst me bv EPRT. the first one having been dismissed. Epr/ 7'echnohwies,
Inc. v John //. Faro El A/, Case No 12-CV-05047-l.INDSAY (DC Dallas Div. Texas)

§ l .198 Reopening aper afinal decision of the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences.
When a decision by the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences on appeal has become final for judicial

rev iew. prosceution of the proceeding before the primary examiner will not be reopened or reconsidered
by the primary examiner except under the provisions of§l.114 or §41.50 ofthis title without the written

GOV #10 Page 1 of 38



before the Patent Office. or an appeal to the District Court. See enclosed Motion to Dismiss
Exhibit "1"

3. Around January 1, 2008, I closed my office at 44 W. Flagler Street. Miami, 1 1. in
favor of an "executive suite" relationship at 28 W. Flagler Street. Miami. Fl. I did not have any
physical presence or office staff at this suite address, and simply used its facilities as a mailing
address. and for conference room access. A Change of Correspondence Address (28 W. Flagler
Street, Miami. F1 ), was filed with the USPTO on February 11, 2008. I never received either the
Board of Appeals decision. or the Notice of Abandonment. at 28 W. Flagler Street, Miami, Fl
address. See Change of Correspondence Address, dated February 11, 2008, - Exhibit "2"

4. I made an inquiries on Sept_ember 30. 2008, of the Board of Appeals, to ascertain
the status of the appeal of the patent application for the "Microcurrent Electrotherapy" technology.
See Faro & Associates Statement dated October 1,2008 (note address on Statement)- Exhibit
"3" l do not recall what if anything I was told. other than the appeal was still pending.

5. This October I, 2008 Statement also indicates that EPRT was seriously delinquent
in account with my office. more than $2,000 being more than 120 past due.

6. My recollection of events during the period from about 2008 to 20iO, is that EPRT
abandoned pursuit of a number of matters. More specifically. EPRT and/or THRISOlNT
requested estimates for trademark and patent applications and/or for the continuation of pursuit of
existing work or work in process. and declined to pursue any of the matter for which an estimate
was provided. See enclosed pro forma invoices to Thrisoint PTY, Ltd (EPRT holding
company) dated November 2008 and December 2009, - Composite Exhibit "4"

7. EPRT went out of business. at least in the United States, sometime during the period
(2009 - 2010) in which its pending application was before the Board of Appeals.

8. I believe EPRT eventually paid off its delinquent bill in installments, over a period
of several months/year sometime in late 2009 or early 2010. EPRT was aware of my
umsillingness to undertake anv further representation without first receiving a retainer for the
requested work. I do not believe i undertook any additional work for EPRT after the delinquent
account was brought current.

In summary - It is evident from my statement of October 1. 2008, (Exhibit "37 that I
endeavored to ascertain the status of the appeal when requested by EPRT and my efforts were
unsuccessful. I do not recall when I tirst learned that the appeal of the final rejection had been
aftirmed.

authority of the Director, and then only for the consideration of matters not already adjudicated.
sufhcient cause being shown. (emphasis added)
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Whatever phone call may have been rnade to me by the Examiner in September 2009, was
likelv returned. The Examiner comments in the Notice of Abandonment do not indicate the
content of her message. if any.

I f you require additional information or clarification of the enclosed, please advise.

Sincerely,

xù

Jol
Enclosures as per text
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 

 

Case No. 1:13-cv-23893-HUCK/OTAZO-REYES 

 

 

THRISOINT PTY. LTD., 

a Belize International Business  

Company; and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES,  

INC., a California corporation,  

 

   Plaintiff, 

 

v.  

 

JOHN H. FARO,  

an Individual; and Technology 

Business Law Group, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company d/b/a 

Faro & Associates, 

   

   Defendants.        

      / 

 

STIPULATION OF DISMISSAL 

 COMES NOW Plaintiffs THRISOINT PTY. LTD and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

and Defendants JOHN H. FARO and TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW GROUP, LLC 

(“Parties”) pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) and hereby stipulate to 

dismissal of this action with prejudice. 

Faro & Associates     CRGO Law 

1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800   7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 

Miami, FL  33131     Boca Raton, FL  33434 

Telephone: (305)761-6921    Telephone: (561)922-3837 

Facsimile: (305)726-0029    Facsimile: 561-244-1062 

Johnf7571@aol.com     mchaiken@crgolaw.com 

 

 

By: /s/ John H. Faro, Esq    By: /s/ Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq. 
John H. Faro, Esq.     Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq. 

Florida Bar No. 527459    Florida Bar No. 87927 

Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH   Document 237   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/01/2015   Page 1 of 2
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I hereby certify that on this 1st day of September 2015, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system. I also certify that the foregoing 

document was serviced by CM/ECF on this day to all counsel on the attached service list either 

via transmission of Notice of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or as otherwise authorized 

for counsel or parties who are not authorized to receive electronic filings.  

 

CRGO Law 

7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 

Boca Raton, FL 33434  

Telephone: 561-922-3837 

Facsimile: 561-244-1062 

mchaiken@crgolaw.com 

 

By: /s/ Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  
Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  

Florida Bar No. 87927 

 

SERVICE LIST: 

 

John H. Faro, Esquire  

Faro & Associates  

1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800  

Miami, FL 33131  

Johnf7571@aol.com 

Counsel for Defendant 
 
 

Roger A. Farahmand  

The Farahmand Law Firm  

801 East Campbell Road  

Suite 345  

Richardson, TX 75081  

972-720-1000  

roger@farahmandlaw.com 

Pro Hac Vice Counsel for Plaintiff 

 

 

 

 

 

Steven M. Greenberg 

CRGO Law 

7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 

Boca Raton, FL  33434 

sgreenberg@crgolaw.com 

Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 

Albert Maggio 

CRGO Law 

7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 

Boca Raton, FL  33434 

amaggio@crgolaw.com 

Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
 

Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH   Document 237   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/01/2015   Page 2 of 2
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC16-1408 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2014-70,913(11J)  

___________________________/ 

VOLUNTARY DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE 

COMES NOW, The Florida Bar, by and through its undersigned counsel, 

and hereby files this Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice with respect to Count 

One of the formal Complaint, which alleged violations of Rule 4-1.1 (Competence) 

and 4-1.3 (Diligence) of The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.   

With respect to these alleged Rule violations, each party shall bear its own 

attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Thomas Allen Kroeger, Bar Counsel 
The Florida Bar - Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue 
Rivergate Plaza, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 19303 
tkroeger@flabar.org 



2 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the original Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice has been 
furnished by E-Mail only to the Honorable Jeri Beth Cohen, Referee, to the judicial 
assistant’s email at xcotarelo@jud11.flcourts.org; with a copy by E-Mail only to 
John H. Faro, at johnf75712@aol.com; and to Adria E. Quintela, Staff Counsel, 
The Florida Bar at aquintel@flabar.org, on this 8th day of February, 2017. 

 
Thomas Allen Kroeger, Bar Counsel 

mailto:xcotarelo@jud11.flcourts.org
mailto:aquintel@flabar.org
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT

COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT

OF VIRGINIA

(Alexandria Division)

JOHN H. FARO, ESQ.
Petitioner

V.

JOSEPH MATAL, UNDER SECRETARY
OF COMMERCE & DIRECTOR, UNITED :
STATES PATENT & TRADEMARK

OFFICE

Respondent

Case No.

VERIFIED PETITION UNDER L.R. 83.5 FOR REVIEW

OF DIRECTOR FINAL ORDER OF SUSPENSION

DATED FEBRUARY 9,2018

The Petitioner, JOHN H. FARO, ESQ., (FARO), appearing pro se, herein submits this

Petition Under LR 83.5 For Review Oj Director Final Order Oj Suspension Dated February 9,

2018, againstJoseph Matal, in his capacity as Under SecretaryOf Commerce & Director, United

States Patent & Trademark Office (DIRECTOR), and alleges as follows:

SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS

This Petition seeks review of a disciplinary proceeding (D2015-27) initiated by Patent

Office, Office of Enrollment & Discipline (OED) against the Petitioner under 37 CFR 11.32. The

chronology of the proceedings are summarized below for ease of reference,

OnMav 15,2012. the OED initiated a disciplinary proceeding by filing a Complaint

the Patent Office, OED Complaint, annexed hereto as Petition Exit No. 1'

' There are references throughout this Petition to various documents and record:
• "Petition Exh No" is to an Exhibit annexed to this Petition;

• "RES Exh No" is to a Trial Exhibit for the hearing before the ALJ;

1

1:18-cv-274

Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB   Document 1   Filed 03/13/18   Page 1 of 71 PageID# 518



On May 10-11, 2016, a trial was conducted before an ALJ (HUD Appeals) within the

Federal District Courthouse in Miami, Florida.

On September 15,2016. the ALJ rendered an Initial Decision & Opinion, annexed hereto

as Petition Exh No. 2. The ALJ Initial Decision& Opinion, was 33 single spaced pages, 12point

font. 37 CFR 11.55 required that the appeal of the ALJ Initial Decision & Opinion, conform to

the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure (Fed R App Proc) - specifically, double space text, 14

point type. 37 CFR 11.55 limited the page length of the Initial Brief to 30 pages, or a word count

of 14,000, words, which equates to about 38-40 pages.

On October 25,2016, the Petitioner (Appellant) filed a Motion to Waive the 40 Page Limit

for the Initial Brief for his appeal of the ALJ's Initial Opinion, Petition Exit No. 3. The Motion

was opposed and ultimately denied. Thenumber of pages andfont constraints on the InitialBrief

forced Petitioner to take shortcuts with the form the Brief to sandwich 60 pages of argument into

a 30 page document. The OED objected to the form of Initial Brief and Director upheld the

objections.

On December 6,2016, the Petitioner (Appellant) filed a '^RevisedSubstitute " Initial Brief

Petition Exh No. 4. The form of this Revised Substitute" Initial Brief acceptable, however,

because of the numerous issues on appeal, forced the Petitioner to spread the allotted space over

the numerous issues, and thereby provide only a cryptic or abbreviated discussion to each. OED

once again objected, asserting that lack of adequate detail prevented it from properly addressing

such issues. Notwithstanding, the OED did timely file a Response/Opposition Brief

On January 13, 2017, Petitioner (Appellant) filed a Motion Under 37 CFR 11.55(h) For

An Order Re-Opening, the disciplinary proceeding, based on newly discovered evidence that was

• "Tx" references transcript of the hearing before the ALJ

2
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unavailable to Petitioner prior to and during Trial. Petition Exit No. 5 This Motion sought to re

open the case because upon the OED false certification of the completeness of the principle trial

exhibit. The OED opposed the Motion for obvious reasons. The Director declined substantive

review, denied the Motion, and incorrectly concluded the new evidence, could have been

discovered prior to trail.

On February 10,2017, Petitioner (Appellant) filed a Reply Brief, in which he addressed a

number of legal issues and evidentiary burden raised by OED Response Brief, Petition Exit No. 6

On August 2.2017, the Director issued a Final Order in which she "rubber stamped" ALJ

Initial Opinion. In this process, she proceeded to strike the Petitioner (Appellant) Revised

Substitute " Initial Brief, while leaving undisturbed the Petitioner(Appellant) Reply Brief Petition

Exh No. 7

On August 17, 2017, Petitioner (Appellant) filed a Request for Reconsideration of the

Final Order ofAugust 2, 2017, Petition Exh No. 8

On September 14,2017, the OED Director filed its Response in opposition to the Request

for Reconsideration ofthe Final Order ofAugust 2, 2017, Petition Exit No. 9

On August 27,2017, the Petitioner (Appellant) filed a Replyto the OED Director Response

in opposition to the Requestfor Reconsideration of the Final Order ofAugust 2, 2017, Petition

Exh No. 10

On February 2, 2018, the Director entered an Order denying the Petitioner (Appellant)

filed a Requestfor Reconsideration ofthe Final Order ofAugust 2, 2017, Petition Exh No. 11

SUMMARY OF PETITION

The OED Director Violation ofMandatory Procedures Under 37 CFR 11.22(d) In

His Investi2ation ofAUesations ofProfessional Misconduct Aeainst Petitioner Is Preclusive

Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB   Document 1   Filed 03/13/18   Page 3 of 71 PageID# 520



of the OED Director Empanelins a Committee on DiscipUne, Under 37 CFR 11.23, the

Return ofA Finding ofProbable Cause bv the Committee & The Initiation ofDisciplinary

Proceeding Asainst Petitioner on Mav 15, 2015 - The OED Director investigation of

allegations of professional misconduct against an attorney requires the OED Director comply

with 37 CFR 11.22, including the mandatory provisions with 37 CFR 11.22(d) for the conduct

of an investigation See, Swyers v. United States Patent and Trademark Office, 2016 WL

7042943, (ED VA 2016), for history of extensive revision to OED investigation protocol and

practice since 2004, as necessitated by 4 '̂' Circuit decision in Goldstein v. Moatz. The Patent

Office regulations have the effect ofa rule of law, and, where the regulation requires mandatory

performance or compliance the Patent Office actions 37 CFR 11.22, c.f. Hyatt v. U.S. Patent

and TrademarkOffice, 110 F.Supp.3d644, 652-53 (ED VA 2015). - "legal effect" of mandatory

language ("shall") upon the interpretation of Patent Office duties and prerogatives. Petitioner

asserts that under the OED' own rules, its failure of adherence to its own rules, circumscribes the

OED Director from initiating a disciplinary proceeding against Petitioner; and, consequently, the

OED lacked subject matter jurisdiction to entertain the OED Grievant's allegation of misconduct

against Petitioner

Where, as in this case, the Petitioner (Respondent) has timely challenged the subject

matter jurisdiction of the OED, as above described, the OED has the burden to establish

"jurisdictional facts" to support the appropriateness of the disciplinary proceeding, Helmerich &

Payne International Drilling Co. v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela el al, 185 F.Supp.3d 233,

238-239 (DC DC. 2016)

To the extent that jurisdiction depends on particular factual propositions (at least
those independent ofthe merits), the plaintiff must, on a challenge by the defendant, present
adequate supporting evidence."^*239Agudas Chasidei Chabad of U.S. v. Russian Fed'n,
528 F.3d 934, 940 (D.C.Cir.2008)
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In this case, "adequate supporting evidence" requires the OED demonstrate strict

compHance with i7 CFR 11.22. The provisions of 37 CFR 11.22, sets forth a sequence of steps

the OED Director must follow, in a prescribed order, upon receipt of a grievance against an

attorney. Under 37 CFR 11.22(d) The OED Director ""shair review "all information and

evidence" related to the allegations of misconduct; and, the OED Director strict adherence to

37 CFR 11.22(d), is a condition precedent, to the OED Director referral to a Committee on

Discipline for determination of "probable cause", under 27 CFR 11.23 If and when, the

Committee on Discipline returns "probable cause", based upon the OED Director investigation

under 37 CFR 11.22(d), then, and only then, can the OED Director initiate a disciplinary

proceeding under 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3). In this case, OED Director's investigation was

prematurely concluded, and therefore incomplete; and, thus, exclusive of information thatmay

"'justify or exonerate the alleged actions oj the registeredpractitioner or mitisate the seriousness

ofany violations that may have occurred"

The Patent Office is entitled to no deference in the interpretation of the scope of an

investigation under the foregoing procedural rule, 37 CFR 11.22... c.f. Mohsenzadeh v. Lee, 5

F.Supp.3d 791, 802 (ED Va 2014)

Where a party challenges a USPTO regulation that was established pursuant to the
general procedural rulemaking authority of § 154(b)(3)(A), the USPTO's interpretation
may be entitled to some deference. Abraxis Bioscience, LLC v. Kappos, No. 1:11-CV-
00730, F.Supp.3d , , 2014 WL 65739, at *10-11 (D.D.C. Jan. 8.
2014) (grantingSkidmore deference to USPTO regulation 37 C.F.R. § 1.703(b) because it
was issued pursuant to statutory authority to address procedural issues in § 154(b)(3)(A)).

Therefore, only after the OED Director has conducted his information gathering

(investigation, in accordance with his mandatory information gathering obligations), can the

OED Director empanel a Committee on Discipline, under 37 CFR 11.23 for determination of
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probable cause.

In this case the OED Director prematurely concluded his investigation on or about on

May 2015, notwithstanding, he was aware of (a) additional information and evidence relevant

to OED Grievant allegation of professional misconduct was forthcoming from the prior filed,

pending malpractice litigation, (GOV #16, Docket Sheet, ECF ?, Motion for Summary

Judgment in malpractice case), (b) such forthcoming information implicated violations of

OED Rules of Professional Conduct, (c) the malpractice litigation Docket of the Federal

District Court (GOV # ), indicated that dispositive motions had been filed, and were awaiting

hearing, and (d) the Federal District Court had set the malpractice litigation for trial in August

2015 (rescheduled for September 15, 2015), {GOV #16, Docket Sheet, ECF ?, Scheduling

Order in malpractice case)),.

The OED's own implementation of 37 CFR 11.22(a) & (d), defines the information

gathering duties of the OED, the OED objectives in conducting the investigation in its standard

Request for information ("RFI"), to Petitioner, GOV U12 @1, RFl #2,. The language of the

RFI, which defines the purpose and scope of the RFI, is apparently based upon an interpretive

decision of 37 CFR 11.22(d). The OED Requests for Information (''RFI"), is reproduced

below:

" You should understand that the OED must develop all information regarding the

information received (the grievance), including that information which may justify or

exonerate the alleged actions ofthe registered practitioner or mitisate the seriousness of

any violations that may have occurred. GOV #12 @1, RFI #2 @page 1
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With this context, the arbitrary conclusion of the OED Director investigation^, was

calculated to frustrate the objective of the investigation, and to unfairly confine the scope of

the investigation before the District Court had rendered a decision upon the parties' dispositive

motion. Thus, the arbitrary conclusion of the investigation before the District Court ruling on

dispositive motions, or Trial, necessarily excluded relevant and material information required

for his investigation. Accordingly, the OED Director investigation was incomplete, under 37

CFR 11.22(d) and the OED Director referral of his incomplete investigation to the Committee,

under 37 CFER 11.22(1). was illegal.

Consequently, the OED Director empaneling a Committee on Discipline to solicit a

probable cause finding, based incomplete and illegal investigation, necessarily influenced the

Committee deliberations, c.f U.S. v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66,78 (1986), 106 S.Ct. 938,89 L.Ed.2d

50. 54 USLW 4167: followed Bank ofNova Scotia v. U.S, 487 U.S. 250. 251 (1988), 108 S.Ct.

2369, 101 L.Ed.2d 228, 62 A.F.T.R.2d 88-5738, 56 USLW 4714

(Concurring Opinion by Justice O'Connor) In my view, when a defendant makes a
timely objection to the grand jury indictment based ona violation ofRule 6(d)^, the remedy
of dismissal of the indictment is appropriate if it is established that the violation
substantially influenced the grand jury's decision to indict, or if there is grave doubt as to
whether it had such effect. See Lane, supra, at 449, 106 S.Ct., at ; Kotteakos v.
United States, 328 U.S. 750, 765, 66 S.Ct. 1239, 1248, 90 L.Ed. 1557 (1946). The focus of
the prejudice inquiryshould be on theeffectof the allegederroron the grandjury's decision
to indict even if the court postpones its decision until the conclusion of the trial.

^ OED Counsel has acknowledge in open court that there was not any hard and fast deadline for
conclusion of the OED Director investigation, because the investigation period was subject to
extension, upon agreement of the parties - presumably, an agreement by Petitioner to toll the
running of the statute of limitations on the alleged violations. Faro v. Director (Lee) ofPatent &
Trademark Office, Case No. (Fed Cir), Oral Argument Hearing Transcipt

^ Rule 6(d) - restricts attendance of grand jury proceeding to prevent undue influence of grand
jury deliberation proceedings.
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Petitioner asserts that these departures (procedural irregularities) from the mandatory

requirements of37 CFR J1.22(d), resulted in prejudicial error, in the determination ofprobable

cause by the Committee on Discipline; and, in the Trail of the OED Complaint, by inflating

the number of specious allegations of misconduct the Petitioner was required to defend. Such

prejudicial errors, incident to the illegal initiation of a disciplinary proceeding, has forced

Petitioner to defend specious allegations of misconduct, and the OED overcharging Petitioner

with misconduct. The failure of adherence to mandatory procedural rule effecting the

Petitioner's right to a fair and impartial hearing and/or the outcome of a disciplinary

proceeding, was illegal, and, requires the reversal of the suspension of Petitioner, Halvonik v.

Dudas, 398 F.Supp.2d 115, (DC 2005)

It is undisputed the under the OED's own rules, a disciplinary proceeding may only be

initiated after the '"the conclusion of an investigation'^ under 37 CFR 11.22(d), and the OED

Director issue "formal charges: under 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3), with approval of the Committee on

Discipline. Thus, only the Committee on Discipline can determine, from the OED Director

investigation under 37 CFER 11.22(d), that there is ""probable cause to bring charges under §

1L32 against a practitioner" under 37 CFR 11.23(b)(1)

Where, as in this case, the OED Director has subverted the integritv of the investigation of

the allegations of misconduct against the Petitioner, by premature conclusion of his investigation,

his subsequent empaneling of a Committee on Discipline, does not obviate the OED Director

failure to adhere to his mandatory obligations under 37 CFR 11.22(d), nor, can the Committee on

Discipline, finding ofprobable cause, redefine the OED Director's mandatory obligation, or scope

of the OED Director investigation, under 37 CFR 11.22(d). The OED Direction corruption of the

OED processing of allegation of misconduct of misconduct against Petitioner, under 37 CFR

8
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11.22(d)and 37 CFR 11.23, circumscribes the OED Director authority to issue "formal charges"

of professional misconduct against Petitioner under 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3). Accordingly, the OED

lacked subject matter jurisdiction to initiate a disciplinary proceeding against Petitioner, based

upon the OED Grievant allegations of misconduct, 37 CFR 11.32.

Petitioner timely challenged"* the issue of subject matter jurisdiction of the OED to initiate

a disciplinary proceeding on three (3) separate and distinct occasions. The Petitioner challenged

the subject matterjurisdiction (a) during the Trial before the ALJ, by way of a Motion to Amend

Affirmative Defense', (b) by way of Petition to the Commissioner (sic), under 37 CFR 1.181 & 37

CFR 1.182, requesting her to invoke her supervisory authority to compel OED compliance with

37 CFR 11.22(d), and (c) by way of Petitionfor Writ ofMandamus, to the District Court (ED VA)

to order the Director to enforce 37 CFR 11.22(d), (which was denied for lack ofjurisdiction),

The Director's Final Order has never addressed the issue of subject matter. The Order

attempts todeflectthe Court's attention (page 18),byasserting the OEDneedonlyhavepersonal

jurisdiction over Petitioner to initiate disciplinary proceeding. Why then do the OED Rule

include 37 CFR 11.22(d), which requires an investigation, begs the question?

Final Order ofSuspension Is Unsupported By Substantial Evidence - The Petitioner

seeks reversal of the Final Order of February 9. 2018, which endorsed Initial Decision & Order

of ALJ Mahoney dated September 15. 2015.

The ALI Initial Opinion - The Petitioner diligently and competently represented his

former client EPRT from the time of engagement of Petitioner's service in November 2002, up

to and including the appeal of the Final Rejection ofNovember 14,2005, to the Board of Patent

A challenge to the subject matter jurisdiction of an agency, or court, can be raised at any time
during the proceedings between the parties, and even of appeal, (citation ofauthority unnecessary).

9
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Appeals. The Final Rejection was affirmed and the Board's Decision forwarded to Petitioner's

correspondence address on June 1, 2009. The Petitioner never received the Board's Decision,

and the application was subsequently abandoned.

The ALJ Initial Decision & Order, explicitly acknowledges these undisputed facts:

Respondent worked competently to achieve EPRT's goals from 2002 until
2006, when he filed the Second Appeal. After doing so, he resigned himself to waiting
for a PTO response. According to the OED Director's theory^ Respondent received
that response in 2009. Rather than file an appeal, as he had done twice already,
Respondent chose to ignore the Board Decision. He then proceeded to stonewall and
avoid Ms. Blake for more than a year. Missing from the OED Director's theory is
any hintof Respondent's purported motive for this sharp shift in attitude. As of2009,
his relationship with EPRT and its personnel remained congenial. In fact, he was
handling a number of other patent and trademark matters for the company at the time.
The OED Director has provided no reason why Respondent would act in the manner
alleged in the Complaint. The Court is therefore persuaded that Respondent did not
receive the copies of the Board Decision or the Notice of Abandonment in 2009.
Having failed to receive the documents when they were initially sent. Respondent did
not become aware of the actual status of the '519 Application until October 2011,
when he asked his associate to personally check the physical file.^ His e-mail to Ms.
Blake on July 30, 2010, was therefore not deceptive or dishonest. Accordingly, the
Court finds that the OED Director failed to prove, by clear and convincing evidence,
that Respondent violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4). (emphasis added)

Petition Exh. No. 2, Initial Opinion @ page 22

As set forth herein in detail. Petitioner adhered to the client's legal objective, as

communicated to both predecessor patent counsel, and relayed to him, in November 2002, in

prosecuting the application, RES Exh No. 2, Bates No. The client's legal objective were

specific and unequivocal - the attainment of patent protection for the ''electrode wrap" for its

products. In August 2008, the client had abandoned the product configuration develop in

1998-1999, and claimed in the ' 519 Patent Application, in favor ofa new product configuration

{Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap), RES Exh No. 16, Bates No

^As discussed supra. Respondent's delayed awareness ofthese documents was due to his own negligent and
neglectful conduct.

10

Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB   Document 1   Filed 03/13/18   Page 10 of 71 PageID# 527



A EPRT new product configuration, based upon Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap,

was conceived in 2007-2008, and claimed in a new patent application filed in 2008. At about

the same time EPRT (a) discontinued products based upon the '519 Patent Application, (b)

abandoned international patent applications based upon the '519 Patent Application, (c) filed

for new FDA registration (51OK application) for the product configuration, based upon the

Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap, and (d) directed Petitioner to refrain from incurring

addition legal fees pursuing for the '519 Patent Application.

The ALJ basis for his finding of neglect, ("delayed awareness), was predicated upon

the Petitioner's use of a "virtual office" (executive suite), as his correspondence address and

the use of traditional monitoring practice for confirmation of the status of the appeal at the

Board of Appeals

The Courtfinds that Respondent's neslect ofthe '519 Application stemmed
primarily from his decision to move to the 28 W, Flasler address. Had he remained
in his original office, or changed his correspondence address to his home office, he
would have timely received the Board Decision and the Notice ofAbandonment.

Petition Exh No, 2, ALJ Initial Opinion @27

In Petitioner's Post-Trial Brief& Reply, (Petition Exh Nos, 4 & 6), Petitioner challenged

this finding, and ALJ reasoning, as a shallow and impermissible attempt to illegally redefine or

modify the Patent Office Rules of Practice ("legislate from the bench")'̂ '. Petitioner asserted that

ALJ's "delayed awareness" rational, was impermissible "rule making", and, thus was contrary to

law, Tafas v. Doll, 559 F.3d 1345, 1352-54 (Fed Cir 2009). The Director agreed and abandon

the "delayed awareness", based upon Petitioner's choice of correspondence address.

The Director of the Patent & Trademark Office has abandoned the "delayed awareness"
foundation of the ALJ finding of neglect, when challenged by Petitioner.

11
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The ALJ's departure from a reasoned, and legally supported analysis, was pervasive in the

ALJ's Initial Opinion & Order. More specifically, the ALJ decision is rife with gratuitous and

unsupported assumptions, based his "personal biases" and the impermissible "stacking of

inferences'', relative to finding violation to

• 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) - Neglectingthe '519 Application-,

• 37 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(8) - Failure to Inform EPRT ofPTO Correspondence

• 37 C.F.R. §10.84(a) -Failing to Seek EPRT's Lawful Objectives.

• 37 C.F.R. §10.112(c)(4) - Failing to Return EPRT's Client File\

• 37 C.F.R. §10.23(b)(6) -Engaging in Other Conduct that Adversely Reflects

on Respondent's Fitness to Practice.

The Director recognized the manifest impropriety of the ALJ the finding of "neglect", as

based upon the Petitioner's use of an executive suite as a "correspondence address", was

incredible. Petition Exit Noy 2, Initial Opinion @ 22. In lieu of dismissing the allegation, the

Director attempted to put a "Band-Aid" the ALJ's on is ill-reasoned finding of neglect, plug the

gaping hole in the ALJ finding of neglect, by conflating unsupported, circumstantial evidence, to

shore up the ALJ Initial Decision & Order.

The above ALJ departure from law and reason is reflected in the ALJ's interpretation of

the Petitionercompliance with Rules of Practice, as a violation of one or more of the OED Rules

of Professional Conduct, based upon his "hind-sight", and shallow attempt to engraft or import

addition requirements into the Rules of Practice (Part I), for the prosecution of patents applications

before the Patent Office. This effort is not entitled to any Chevron deference, because such an

'interpretation' is not included within 'V/ congressional delegation ofadministrative authority"

12
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to administer the regulation of the practiceof registered patentpractitioner, Tafas v. Doll, 559 F.3d

1345, 1353, (Fed Cir. 2009)^

Lastly, the ALJ has "reasoned" that Petitioner's compliance with the Patent & Trademark

Office Rules of Practice (37 CFR, Part 1), can violate the OED Rules of Professional Misconduct,

and thereby provide a basis for disciplinary action, if, in hind-sight, some other (optional)

procedure "could have" better served the client's needs, Petition Exit No, 2, Initial Opinion @.

The ALJ interpretation of the foregoing Rulesof Practice is not entitled to any Chevrondeference.

More specifically, the availability of optional electronic filing Patent Office correspondence, and

the monitor of Patent Office files on the internet, has not displaced traditional forms of

communication between an attorney and the Patent Office. An interpretation of the OED rules of

Professional Conduct amounts, as adopted by the ALJ, amounts to "substantive rules that change

existing law and alters the rights of applicants such as [Appellees] under the Patent Act.", and

WXtgdil Id @1350-51.

DETAILED PETITION

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This action is brought under 35 (JSC 32 & 5 USC 70L to review the Director's

Final Order of August 2, 2017, suspending FARO from practice before the Patent Office, Petition

Exh No. 1.

2. This matter arises from a disciplinary action initialed by the Office of Enrollment

and Discipline, under 37 CFR 11.55, and the appeal of the Initial Opinion & Order of

^ Rehearing en banc Granted, Opinion Vacated by Tafas v. Doll, Fed.Cir.(Va.), July 6, 2009,
when Patent Office altered its rules and rendered the decision moot.
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Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Jeremiaii Mahoney, dated September 15, 2016. The legal

challenge to the Director Final Order is based upon the Director's violation of 5 (JSC 706

3. This Petition challenges

• The OED initiation ofa disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, in violation

of Petitioner's legal rights under37 CFR 11.22(d) & 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3);

• The OED misconduct during trial of the disciplinary proceeding denied FARO a

fair and impartial hearing, specifically, the (a) the OED violation of 28 USC

1001(c), by OED false verification under penalty of perjury, under 28 U.S.C. §

1746, of the authenticity of OED Exh Gov #7, (b) the OED violation of F/fl,Stats.

831,02 (False Uttering) of OEDExh Gov #/ (a public document), and (c) the OED

violation of Fla, Stat. 44,405, relating to introduction of evidence and solicitation

of testimony of the confidentially of a Federal Court Ordered mediation,;

• the Director arbitrary and patently unreasonable denial of Petitioner's Motion Of

Enlargement in the numberof pagesof Petitioner's post-trial brief to respond to the

ALJ Initial Opinion;

• the Director arbitrary and patently unreasonable denial of Petitioner's Motion

Under 37 CFR 11.55(h) to Re-Open the disciplinary proceeding based upon newly

discovered evidence;

• ALJ Initial Opinion, as to existence of the of clear and convincing admissible

evidence of violation of 37 C.F.R. §10.77(c) - Neglecting the '519 Application',

• ALJ Initial Opinion, as to existence of the clear and convincing admissible

evidence of violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) - Failure to Inform EPRT of

PTO Correspondence

14
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• ALJ InUial Opinion, as to existence of clearand convincing evidence of violation

of i7 C.P.R. §10.84(a) -Failing to Seek EPRT's Lawful Objectives.

• ALJ Initial Opinion, as to existence of clear and convincing admissible evidence

of violation 37 C.F.R. §10.112(c)(4)-Failing to Return EPRT's Client File-,

• ALJ Initial Opinion, as to existence of clear and convincing admissible evidence

of violation of 37 C.F.R. §10.23(b)(6) -Engaging in Other Conduct that

Adversely Reflects on Respondent's Fitness to Practice.

• ALJ Initial Opinion, as to existence of clearandconvincing admissible evidence of

attribution of any E?RTfinancial loss;

II. THE PARTIES

4. The Petitioner, John H. Faro, Esq. is a registered patent attorney residing in Florida.

He has a combined forty-nine (49) corporate and private practice intellectual property law and

related litigation (the last thirtv-two (33) in private practice). His practice and technical

background includes the medical device and diagnostic products technologies (including related

instrumentation). Appellant's on-line profile appears at https://lawyers.justia.com/lawyer/john-

faro-1336219

5. The Respondent, Joseph Matal, is the Under Secretary of Commerce and the

Director of the United States Patent & Trademark Office.

III. JURISDICTION & VENUE

6. This Federal District Court has jurisdiction over this Petition under 35 (JSC§32, 5

U.S.C. §701, 28 use§1331; 28 USC 1338 & 28 U.S.C. §1361.

1. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 USC§139I(e)( 1)

15
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IV RELATED MATTERS

8. The issues common to the subject matter of this Petition have been contested

between the parties in malpractice complaint filed in Federal District Court for the Southern

District of Florida; and, before the Florida Bar, based upon a disciplinary action filed by the same

gnevant, based upon the same allegations of professional misconduct,.

• Thrisoint PTY Ltd <& EPRT Technologies v. John H Faro & Technology

Business Law Group, LLC, Case No. 13-CV-23893-HUCK (SO Fla 20130.

Disposition - Legal malpractice, Dismissed with prejudice on September 15,

2015;

• Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Esq. -Case No. 16-1408, (Florida Supreme Court)

Disposition - OED Grievant complaint (identical to OED grievance against the

Petitioner) - Dismissed, (declination to prosecute);

• John H. Faro, Esq. v. Michelle Lee, Director PTO -Case No. 1:16-cv-320

(GBUTCB), (ED VA 2016)

Disposition - District Court (Mandamus Petition) - Dismissed, Lack of

Jurisdiction;

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

9. The Administrative Procedures Act (APA), 5 USC 701, et seq., permits courts to

review only of those actions "made reviewable by statute and final agency action for which there

is no other adequate remedy in a court." 5 U.S.C. § 704 (2006). In this case, the final agency

action is the Director's Final Order, dated February 9, 2018, affirming the Initial Opinion of the

ALJ, under 37 CFR 11.55, dated September 15. 2016. is reviewable Reviewing courts consider
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the"wholerecord" and set aside agency actions that are, inter alia, "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse

ofdiscretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law:" "without observance of procedure required

by law:" or "unsupported bv substantial evidence." 5 U.S.C. $ 706 (2006). Garcia v. U.S., 442

Fed.Appx. 745. 748 (4"^ Cir 2010)

10. "In determining whether (an) agency action was arbitrary or capricious, the court

must consider whether the agency considered the relevant factors, and whether a clear error of

judgment was made." Ohio Valley Envll. Coalition v. Aracoma Coal Co.. 556 F.3d 177. 192 (4th

Cir.2009). The standard of review is "highly deferential, with a presumption in favor of finding

the agency action valid." M We will uphold the agency action if "the agency has examined the

relevant data" and provided an explanation of its decision that includes "a 'rational connection

between the facts found and the choice made.' " M (quoting Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass 'n v. State

Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co.. 463 U.S. 29. 43. 103 S.Ct. 2856. 77 L.Ed.2d 443 (1983)). Id

V CONCISE STATEMENT OF BACKGROUND FACTS

a. Petitioner's Relationship With Former Client (EPRT)

11. On or about September 9. 2000. the OED Grievant, EPRT, hired the law firm of

Howrey Simon (California) to file a patentapplication in the U. S. Patent& Trademark Office in

the names of the inventors Keith Wendell ("Wendell") and David Estes ("Estes"). This patent

application was assigned Ser. No. 09/655/519, (hereinafter the "'519 Patent Application"). This

patent application was based upon a prototype of a medical device (TENS Machine) conceived in

1998-99.

12. On March 27, 2002. the '519 Patent Application was examined and rejected, RES

Exh. #/. The Patent Office rejection was forwarded by EPRT patent counsel, Howrey Simon, to

the inventor, Estes, for review and comments.

17
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13. On June 19. 2002. Estes forward his written comments, via email, to Howrey

Simon, including specifically, ESTES emphasizing the importance of obtaining patent protection

for the unique ""electrode wrap'" component of the EPRT TENS Machine, RES Exh No. 2 (Estes

Email reproduced below in part)

The Ojfice Action Summary rejected the electrode wraps. 1 would like to delineate the

similarities and differences in the wraps that the examiner referred to in Rogozinski (US

5395398), and the wraps utilizedin the EPRTdevice. This is very important to us, as to my

knowledge there are no other wrapsthat operate in the manner ofthe EPRT device and

there are no other wraps constructed in the same manner. The construction ofthe wrap

is key to the effectiveness ofour device. It may be appropriate that our description be

expandedso that the uniqueness ofthe EPRT wraps is apparent

14. The EPRT legal objective, in the initial filing of its patent application in 2000, and

in the continuation of the prosecution from and after June 19. 2002. as set forth in Paragraph 13

above^was to attain patent protection, was for an "electrode wrap", and/or a system incorporating

the "electrode wrap". {EPRT TENS Machine). The importance of obtaining a patent for the

"electrode wrap" was understood by all to be the EPRT primary legal objective in the filing of its

patent application.

15. Howrey Simon subsequently amended the '519 Patent Application on at least two

(2) occasions without success, and the application was finally rejected on September 20. 2002.

RES Exh No. 3

16. In October 2002. Petitioner was contacted, (in Florida), by David Estes, (from

California), the Director of Engineering for EPRT Technologies, Inc. (hereinafter "EPRT) (to

review the "519 Patent Application, and its Patent Office file, including the Final Rejection.

18
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17. On November 19, 2002, Petitioner sent an evaluation of the EPRT Patent File

{Review & Recommendation) to EPRT (David Estes), RES Exh No, 4. Estes subsequently

circulated the Petitioner's Review & Recommendation within EPRT, including to Blake. RES Exh

No. 5. Petitioner's Review & Recommendation was very critical of the '519 Patent Application

drafting, made a series of recommendations and projected the likelihood ofobtaining an allowance

as remote. RES Exh No. 4. More specifically, Petitioner explicitly counseled EPRT that.

In its current proceduralposture, thefinal rejection is likely to be sustained because of

the absence ofany allowable claim, and the inability to modifyan existin2claim to overcome

the final rejection:

18. Notwithstanding, the Petitioner's highly critical Review & Recommendation,

including the Petitioner's prediction ofan unfavorable outcome, EPRT hired Petitioner tocontinue

the patent prosecution of the'519 Patent Application. On November 22, 2002, Katherine Blake,

(the "nominal" president of EPRT), forwarded David Estes' recommendation to hire Petitioner,

from the EPRT offices in California, to Keith Wendell, in Australia, RES Exh No. 6. Keith

Wendell concurred in the Estes recommendation to hire Petitioner. The decision to hire Petitioner

was made by the inventors, David Estes & Keith Wendell, both of whom were the Directors of

EPRT. Katherine Blakeplayed no role in the decision to hire Petitioner, other than her criticism

of the amount of the predecessor patent counsel fees.

19. Petitioner, thereafter, manually filed, {via snail mail), a Power ofAttorney, GOV

#/ @ 450 The Power of Attorney included the Petitioner's "correspondence address" and

"telephone contact information". The Power ofAttorneywas accepted by the Patent Office, GOV

Ul @452 The Power ofAttorney did not include an optionai "CustomerNumber". Accordingly,

Petitioner did not request, nor have electronic access to the Patent Office files Petitioner.
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Notwithstandina, Petitioner was thereafter recognized as the attorney of record, and proceeded to

undertake the representation of EPRT in respect to the '519 Patent Application, including

responding to the Patent Office correspondence & filing a Request for Continuing Examination,

RES Exh No. 7.

b. Petitioner's Reportins Relationship Relative to the *519 Patent Application

20. The EPRT oversight of the Petitioner's prosecution of was bv the inventors. David

Estes & Keith Wendell.

21. Petitioner preferred to communicate via email, and addressed his email

correspondence to both Estes and Blake, with the understanding that Blake would forward her

copy of the email to Wendell in Australia,

22. On November 14, 2005, the *519 Patent Application was finally rejected (3^^ Final

Rejection), RES Exh No.8.

23. On November 29, 2005, Petitioner sent an email to Blake & Estes, in which the

Petitioner summarized, in layman^s terms, the November 14,2005, Final Rejection, and included

a copy of the then pending claims, A. RES Exh No.9 . The Petitioner's email indicated:

• The (November 14,2005) office action was issued ("after the appeal was taken and

brief filed");

• the dependent "Method claims 3 & 4" were potentially allowable, if further

amended to include all of the limitation of independent claim 23;

• "the appeal is still going forward because we are entitled to broader coverage -

specifically coverage as to the configuration of the wrap itself - (the "wrap" was

rejected in a prior Final Rejection in June 2002, and the November 14,2005 restated

Final Rejection, had not withdrawn the prior June 2002 Final Rejection the wrap.
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• The November 29, 2005 email concluded with the phrase, "any questions, pis

advise-John"

24. When neither Blake nor Estes indicated that they had any questions relative to the

Petitioner's summary/explanation of the November 14, 2005, Final Rejection, or disagreed with

the Petitioner's recommendation to pursue an appeal. Petitioner acted accordingly. Petitioner

filed a second Notice ofAppeal of the November 14, 2005, Final Rejection.

25. On or about December 2006. the '519 Patent Application was assigned to a patent

holding company, Thrisoint Pty, Ltd (in Belize), . Wendell was the sole officer and director of

Thrisoint; and, indicated that Petitioner was to remain responsible for the prosecution'519 Patent

Application.

26. The appeal was fully briefed and docketed for review in 2008. Petitioner

periodically checked upon the status of the appeal by telephonic inquiry to the Clerk of the Board

of Appeals, as directed in the Docketing Notice, dated June 1, 2008 RES Exh No. 11

c. EPR TAbandonment OfObsolete (1998-99) Electrode Wrap Configuration

27. In about August 2008. EPRT, specifically, David Estes, conceived of an

improvement to the EPRT prototype and product concept covered in the '519 Patent Application;

and, Estes directed Petitioner filed a new patent application entitled: ''Conductive Silver Electrode

Wrap'\ RES Exh No. 10

28. The Estes' Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap, was to rcplacc the "electrode wrap"

of the EPRT product concept claimed in the '519 Patent Application,.

29. Consequently, Estes explicitly advised Petitioner to not incur any additional legal

fees or expense in pursuing the '519 Patent Application, because the EPRT TENS machine, with

a Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap, was outside the scope of the '519 Patent Application,
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d, EPR TAbandonment OfForeign Equivalents of the'519 Patent Applicationfor
Obsolete (1998-99) Electrode Wrap Configuration

30. On or about 2008-2009, EPRT (Blake) intentionally abandoned a number of the

foreign equivalents of the '519 Patent Application throughout Europe and elsewhere.

31. In 2009, EPRT ceased active operation in the U.S.A. From and after 2009, EPRT

(Blake), inquired re the statusof the appeal of the '519 Patent Application; and, Petitioner checked

its status periodically, as per the instructions on the Board of Patent Appeals' June 1, 2008,

Docketins Statement, bv telephone inquiry.

e„ Board ofPatent Appeals Affirms Final Rejection OfAll Claims On Appeal

32. On June 1. 2009, the Board of Appeals issued a Decision, in which affirmed the

November 14. 2005, Final Rejection, GOV #7 @ 7, Decision. A copy of the Board of Appeals

Decision was forwarded, via US Mail, to the Petitioner's executive suites "correspondence

address". Petitioner never received it!

33. The ALJ has conceded in his Initial Opinion, that Petitioner never received the

Boardof Appeals Decision, {PetitionExh No, 2, Initial Opinion @page 22), Because Petitioner

did not receive the June 1. 1999. Board of Appeals Decision, he did not take any action, nor did

he advise EPRT of the June 1. 1999. Board of Appeals Decision.

34. Insofar as the June 1, 1999. Board of Appeals Decision, did not allow any of the

claims on appeal, the continued prosecution was not available without some new "evidence" (e.g.

Affidavits under Rule 1.132), to refute the rejection^.

The '519 Patent Application became abandoned on August 1, 2009.

^ The lawrelative to continuing the prosecution in 2009 changed in 2012, when the Patent Office
signed the Patent Treaty; and, iharmonized" US practice to international practice
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36. Ihe Petitioner subsequently became aware of the June 1. 2009, Board of Appeals

Decision, and the abandonment thereof on August 1, 2009, on October 201K by physical

inspection of the Patent Office files. Petitioner obtained a copy ofthe Board of Appeals Decision^

from his Alexandria, Virginia associate and, forwarded it to EPRT's litigation counsel, who

threatened Petitioner with a malpractice lawsuit.

e. EPRT Filins Of Malpractice Lawsuits & Grievances With The Florida

Bar & OED

36. On October 23, 2013, EPRT filed a malpractice lawsuit, (second suit), in the

Federal District Court within the Southern District of Florida, Thrisoint PTY Ltd <& EPRT

Technologies v. John H Faro & Technology Business Law Group, LLC, Case No. 13-CV-

23893-HUCK. The malpractice complaint was amended of three (3) occasions. The Third

Amended Complaint, specifically, Paragraph 57 thereof, set forth the allegations of professional

misconduct and neglect against the Petitioner, GOV11, @ 14 Paragraph 57 is reproduced below

for the convenience of the Court:

57. Faro breached his duty to EPRT by his actions which include, but are not
limited to:

a. As a lawyer who devotes a portion of his practice to patent prosecution and is
admitted to practice before the USPTO, Farowas or should have been familiar with
the USPTO's rules of practice and procedure, including, but not limited to the
deadlines to respond to notices and office action letters issued by the USPTO and
the rules related to the filing of petitions to revive abandoned patent applications;

b. As a lawyer. Faro was or should have been familiar with the Florida Bar rules of
Professional Responsibilitv-particularly Rules4-1.3 (lack of diligence). 4-1.4 (lack
of communication) and 4-8.4 (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice);

c. Faro failed to respond to the Decision, (June 1.2009). on Appeal within the two-
month deadline imposed by the USPTO. Faro knew or should have known that by
failing to response to the Decision on Appeal, Faro's was placing EPRT and
Thrisoint at risk of not obtaining a patent based upon the '519 Application.
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d. Faro failed to respond to the phone message left for him by the USPTO examiner
on August 6, 2009. Faro knew or should have known that by not returning the
USPTO examiner's call, Faro was placing EPRT and Thrisoint at risk of not
obtaining a patent based upon the '519 Application.

e. Faro failed to respond to the Notice of Abandonment which was mailed to him
by the USPTO on August 17. 2009. Faro knew or should have known that the
Notice of Abandonment prevented EPRT and Thrisoint from obtaining a patent
based upon the '519 Application.

f. Faro failed to File a petition to revive the abandoned '519 Application pursuant to
37C.F.R. 1.137.

g. Faro failed to communicate the status of the '519 Application to Blake. Further,
Faro made false and material misrepresentations that the '519 Application was in
appeal when he knew or should have known, based upon the Notice of
Abandonment, that the USPTO in fact had made a final determination that the '519
Application was abandoned as a result of Faro's failure to respond to the Decision
on Appeal.

36. In May 2014, EPRT (Blake) filed of a grievance with the Florida Bar. The Florida

Bar V. John H. Faro, Esq, No. SCI6 -1408. The Florida BarComplaint allegations of professional

misconduct, (alleged violations of Rule 4-1.1 (Competence) and 4-1.3 (Diligence)), paralleled of

the malpractice pleadings (e.g. Paragraph 57 of the ThirdAmended Complaint). On February 17,

2017, the Florida Bar dismissed the EPRT (Blake) allegations of professional misconduct with

respect to the alleged violations ofRule 4-1.1 (Competence) and 4-1.3 (Diligence).

37. In May 2014. EPRT (Blake) filed of a grievance with the Patent Office, Office of

Enrollment & Discipline OED. The allegations of professional misconduct also paralleled

Paragraph 57 of the Third Amended Complaint. The OED, initiated an investigation of the

grievance, pursuant to 37 CFR 11.22, by forwarding a copy thereof to Petitioner for comment and

response, A.

38. On September 14. 2014. the Petitioner timely responded to an OED Request For

Information (1RF1 #1). Petitioner explicitly apprised the OED of the prior filed pending
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malpractice lawsuit by EPRT against the Petitioner in the Federal District Court in the Southern

District of Florida.

39. On February 5. 2015. the OED, transmitted a Second Requestfor Information {RFI

#2), GOVUI2. This RFI #2 explicitly indicate that the object of RFI, and the OED obligations

under 37 CFR 11.22, were as follows:

Tow should understand that the OED must develop all information regarding the

information received (the grievance), including that information which may justify or

exonerate the alleged actionsofthe registeredpractitioner or mitisate the seriousnessoj

any violations that may have occurred. GOV UI2 @1, RFI #2

40. Upon information and belief, the above quoted language in this RFI #2 is based

upon an interpretive decision, by the Director, as to scope of 37 CFR 11.22. Petitioner timely

responded to the OED RFI #2.

41. Upon information and belief, the OED Director concluded his investigation on or

before March/April 2015, and convened a Committee on Discipline to review the results of his

investigation.

42. Upon information and belief, the Committee on Discipline thereafter made its

"probable cause" finding, of Petitioner's violation of the OED Rules of Professional Conduct; and,

on May 15. 2015, while the malpractice litigation by the OED Grievant against the Petitioner was

actively being prosecuted, the OED Director initiated a formal disciplinary proceeding against the

Petitioner.

f. Federal District Rulings Pertinent to Allegations ofProfessional Misconduct

43. On July 20. 2015, the Federal District Court conducted a Dauhert hearing of the

OEDGrievant's damage expert, RESExhNo. 18. In the coursesof the hearing, the District Court
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made repealed reference to the OED Grievant's January 22, 2015, deposition (RES Exh 26) and

made a number of specific fmdinas of fact inconsistent with the OED Grievant's prior deposition

testimony; and, with the commercial direction of EPRT, After this Dauhert hearing, the District

Court struck the expert EPRT damage report, and granted Petitioner's Motion in Limine with

respect the EPRT claimof economic loss resulting from the absence of patent protection, RESExh

No. 21.

44. On August 15, 2015, the Federal District Court granted, in part, the Petitioner's

Motion for Summary Judgment, wherein he dismissed the EPRT claims against the Petitioner for

lack of standing and no redressable harm. RES Exh No. 22^ The OED Grievant and Petitioner

thereafter entered into a Joint Stipulation ofDismissal with prejudice, on September 1, 2015.

COUNT I

The OED Lacked Subject Matter Jurisdiction

To Initiate A Disciplinary Proceeding A2ainst The Petitioner

Illegal Initiation ofFormal Disciplinary Proceeding Under 37 CFR 11.32

45. The Petitioner incorporates paragraphs 1-44, as if restated herein and further

alleges.

46. As set forth herein, the OED conduct of the Trial of the disciplinary proceeding was

neither "in accordance with law", and such Trial was conducted "without observance of procedure

required by law" 5 U.S.C. ^ 706 (2006). Garcia v. U.S, 442 Fed.Appx. 745, 748 (4^" Cir 2010)

47. The OED procedure under 37 CFR 11.22, for investigation of an allegation of

attorneymisconduct, involves a sequence ofsteps performed, in a specific order, as set forth below:

§ U.22 Disciplinary investi2ations.

(a) The OED Director is authorized to investigate possible grounds for discipline. An
investigation may be initiated when the OED Director receives a grievance,
information or evidence from any source suggesting possible grounds for discipline.
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Neither unwillingness nor neglect by a grievant to prosecute a charge, nor settlement,
compromise, or restitution with the grievant, shall in itselfjustify abatement of an
investigation.

(b) Any person possessing information or evidence concerning possible grounds for
discipline ofa practitioner may report theinformation orevidence to the OED Director.
The OED Director may request that the report be presented in the form of an affidavit
or declaration.

(c) [Reserved]

(d) Preliminary screeningof information or evidence. The OED Director shall examine
all information or evidenceconcerning possiblegrounds for disciplineof a practitioner.

(e) Notification of investigation. The OED Director shall notify the practitioner in
writing of the initiation of an investigation into whether a practitioner has engaged in
conduct constituting possible grounds for discipline.

(0 Request for information and evidence bv OED Director.

(1) In the course of the investigation, the OED Director may request information
and evidence regarding possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner from:

(i) The grievant,
(ii) The practitioner, or
(iii) Any person who may reasonably be expected to provide information
and evidence needed in connection with the grievance or investigation.

(2) The OED Director may request information and evidence regarding possible
grounds for discipline of a practitioner from a non-grieving client either after
obtaining the consent of the practitioner or upon a finding by a Contact Member of
the Committee on Discipline, appointed in accordance with $ 11.23(d), that good
cause exists to believe that the possible ground for discipline alleged has occurred
with respect to non-grieving clients. Neither a request for, nor disclosure of, such
information shall constitute a violation of any USPTO Rules of Professional
Conduct.

(g) Where the OED Director makes a request under paragraph (f)(2) of this section to
a Contact Member of the Committee on Discipline, such Contact Member shall not,
with respect to the practitioner connected to the OED Director's request, participate in
the Committee on Discipline panel that renders a probable cause determination under
paragraph (b)(1) of this section concerning such practitioner, and that forwards the
probable cause finding and recommendation to the OED Director under paragraph
(b)(2) of this section.

(h) Disposition of investigation. Upon the conclusion of an investigation, the OED
Director may:
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(1) Close the investigation without issuing a warning, or taking disciplinary action;
(2) Issue a warning to the practitioner:
(3) Institute formal charges upon the approval of the Committee on Discipline: or
(4) Enter into a settlement agreement with the practitioner and submit the same for
approval of the USPTO Director.

(i) Closing investigation. The OED Director shall terminate an investigation and
decline to refer a matter to the Committee on Discipline if the OED Director determines
that:

(1) The information or evidence is unfounded;
(2) The information or evidence relates to matters not within the jurisdiction of the
Office:

(3) As a matter of law, the conduct about which information or evidence has been
obtained does not constitute grounds for discipline,even if the conduct may involve
a legal dispute; or
(4) The available evidence is insufficient to conclude that there is probable cause
to believe that grounds exist for discipline.

48. In this case, the OED Director does not have any discretion, under 37 CFR 11.22,

to initiate a disciplinary proceeding. Quite the contrary, all of the OED Director's actions under

37 CFR 11.22(h). are contingent "'Upon the conclusion of an investigation (under 37 CFR

I1.22(d)y\ This District Court views such mandatory language in Patent Office procedural rules

(e.g. 37 CFR 11.22(d)), as a "legal" requirement, c.f Hyatt v. U.S. Patent and Trademark Office,

110 F.Supp.3d 644, 652-53 (ED VA 2015). - legal effect of mandatory language ("shall") in the

interpretation of Patent Office duties and prerogatives.

49. The May 2014. grievance filed by Katherine Blake ("Blake") with the OED against

the Petitioner, alleging Professional Misconduct in his prosecution of a Patent Application ("519

Patent Application"), was never fully investigated in accordance with the mandatory requirement

oiSlCFR 11.22.

50. The OED Director is a "gate-keeper", under 37 CFR 11.22. whose sole function is

to gather information. Moreover, only after the ''the conclusion of an investigation'' under 37
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CFR 11.22(d), may the OED Director issue"formal charges: under31 CFR 11.22(h)(3), and then

only upon approval of the Committee on Discipline. Thus, only the Committee on Discipline can

determine, from the OED Director investigation under 37 CFER 11.22(d), that there is ^'probable

cause to bring charges under S 11.32 against a practitioner" under i7 CFR JJ.23(b)(1)

51. Where, as in this case, the OED Director has subverted the integrity of the

investigation of the allegations of misconduct against the Petitioner, by premature conclusion of

his investigation, his subsequent empaneling of a Committee on Discipline, does not obviate the

OED Director failure to adhere to his mandatory obligations under 37 CFR 11.22(d), nor, can the

Committee on Discipline, finding of probable cause, redefine the OED Director's mandatory

obligation, or scope of the OED Director investigation, under 37 CFR 11.22(d).

52. The OED Direction corruption of the OED processing of allegation of misconduct,

under 37 CFR 11.22(d) and 37 CFR 11.23, circumscribes the OED Director authority to issue

"formal charges" of professional misconduct against Petitioner under 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3).

Accordingly, the OED lacked subject matter jurisdiction to initiate a disciplinary proceeding

against Petitioner, based upon the OED Grievant allegations of misconduct. 37 CFR 11.32

53. As set forth herein in detail hereinafter, the actions of the OED Director, and the

Director Of The Patent & Trademark Office, by endorsement and/or ratification of the OED

Director, were in violation of the mandatory requirementof the OED rules, and the initiation of a

disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, was also in violation of 5 USC 706(A) to (D) & (F)

Petitioner Timely CItallense ofOED Subject Matter Jurisdiction

54. Petitioner timely challenged^ the issue of subject matter jurisdiction of the OED to

^ A challenge to the subject matter jurisdiction of an agency, or court, can be raised at any time
during the proceedings between the parties, and even ofappeal, (citation ofauthority unnecessary).
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initiate a disciplinary proceeding on three (3) separate and distinct occasions. The Petitioner

challenged the subject matter jurisdiction (a) during the Trial before theALJ, byway of a Motion

to Amend Affirmative Defense', (b) by way of Petition to the Commissioner (sic), under 37 CFR

1.181 & 37 CFR 1.182, requesting her to invoke her supervisory authority to compel OED

compliance with 37CFR 11.22(d), and (c) by way ofPetitionfor Writ ofMandamus, tothe District

Court (ED VA) to order the Director to enforce 37 CFR 11.22(d), (which was denied for lack of

jurisdiction),

55. More specifically, on December 14,2015. Petitioner'scounsel filed a Respondent's

(Petitioner's) Motion For Leave To AmendAffirmative Defenses AndMemorandum OfLaw. This

Motion included Respondent's First Amended Affirmative Defenses (Proposed). The Proposed

3'̂ '' Affirmative Defense (appearing on pages 2-3), is reproduced below:

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

IMPROPER DETERMINATION OF PROBABLE CAUSE - The OED
determination of probable cause, (a condition precedent to the filing and pursuit the
Complaint & Notice of Proceedings Under 35 USC §32 (before and Administrative
LawJudge)), was made by the OED Directorin violation of 37 CFR 11.22(d), because
such probable cause determination did not include an examination of "...all
information or evidence concerning possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner".
The OED filing and pursuit the Complaint & Noticeof Proceedings Under35 USC §32
(before and Administrative Law Judge) against the Petitioner, was made by the OED
Director, without either regard, or consideration, of the potentially preclusive effect of
September 1, 2015, Stipulation of Dismissal, with prejudice, of the malpractice
complaint against the Petitioner, in violation of 37 CFR 11.32, because OED Director
did not conduct an investigation in compliance with 37 CFR 11.22(d).Therefore, the
May 15, 2015, OED determination of probable cause, and the filing and pursuit a
Complaint & Notice of Proceedings Under 35 USC ^32 (before and Administrative
Law Judge), violated the OED procedures and practice relative to the pursuit of a
disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, the OED also violated Petitioner's
constitutional right to due process, under the US Constitution (5th Amendment).

56. On or about January 2015. the ALJ denied the Petitioner's Motion to Amend
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Affirmative Defenses challenging the probable cause finding, and consequently a lack of subject

matter jurisdiction), to initiate a disciplinary proceeding. The ALJ denial of the Motion to Amend

was based upon the ALJ conclusion the OED departure from 37 CFR 11.22(d) was not an

affirmative defense under 37 CFR 11.36(c) fno ''nexus to misconduct").

57. On December 18. 2015, the Petitioner's filed a Petition to Commissioner (sic)

Under Rule 1.1Hi and 1.182., Petition under Rules 1,181 & 1.182. The Petition to the Director,

requested that she invoke her supervisory authority to compel the OED Director to comply with

37 CFR 11.22(d). On December 18. 2015. the Director entered an Order deferring action on the

Petition as premature, indicating that the Petitioner's challenge to the OED subject matter

jurisdiction to initiate a disciplinary proceeding against Petitioner would have to beaddressed after

the ALJ Initial Decision on the merits, (presumably in the post-trial briefs).

58. On February 17,2016. the Petitioner filed a WritofMandamus to District Court for

Eastern District of Virginia. The District Court dismissed Petition for Mandamus., based upon a

lack of jurisdiction. The Petitioner thereafter appealed to the Court of Appeals for the Federal

Circuit. On October 3. 2017, the Federal Circuit heard argument on the Appeal, and affirmed the

District Court dismissal. The Federal Circuit indicated, during oral argument that it would not

rule on the entitlement to mandamus relief until after a Final Order on the disciplinary proceeding

had been issued by the Director.

59. On August 2. 2017, the Director issued a (Final) Order of suspension, Petition Exh

No 7. The Final Order, under review in this proceeding under LR 83.5, does not address the issue

of subject matter iurisdiction of the OED Director to initiate a disciplinary proceeding against the

Petitioner. In lieu thereof, the Director attempts to "bury" her discussion of the Petitioner's

challenge to subject matter jurisdiction on page 18 of her Order, Petition Exh No 7, Final Order
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@ 18. . In lieu thereof, the Director attempts to deflect, and therefore ignore, discussion of the

Petitioner's challenge to subject matter jurisdiction. The Final Order asserts that the OED

"'personal jurisdiction'' of Petitioner as ''registered patent attorney", is sufficient basis and legal

justification, to initiate a disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner under35 USC 32.

OED Interpretation OfIts Own Oblisations Under Of37 CFR 11.22

60. The OED procedure for the OED Director's investigation of an allegation of

misconduct is forth in i7 CFR 11.22, is subiect to judicial review under JJ USC §32 and 5 U.S.C.

§§701 & 706.

61. On May 12, 2014, the OED received a grievance against the Petitioner from a

former client, EPRT, GOV #i. The OED acknowledged the receipt of the EPRT grievance on

May 16, 2014. GOV On July 11, 2014. the OED sent Petitioner as Request for Information

{RFl #7), and a copy of the EPRT grievance, GOV #5, pages 1-12.

62. The OED RFl U1 stated that:

"The OED must develop all information regarding the information received (Client
Complaint), including that information that may justify or exonerate the allege actions of
the registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violation that may have
occurred" (emphasis added)'®, GOV #13 @ 3, Exhibit "A" 1

63. On September 11, 2014, the Petitioner responded to the OED RFl #1, GOV UIO,

pages 1-38. In the Petitioner's response to the OED RFl #1, the Petitionerexplicitly advised the

OED ofa prior filed malpractice case by EPRT against the Petitioner in the Federal District Court

in the Southern District of Florida. Thrisoint PTY Ltd. <& EPRT Technologies v. John H Faro

& Technolosv Business Law Group, LLC, Case No. 13-CV-23893-HUCK (GOK#yO, @page

Petitioner regards the mandatory language of the RFI#1 as based upon an "interpretive
decision" of 37 CFR 11.22(d)
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I), and provided a copy of the EPRT Second Amended Complainl (GOV #7 0, @pages 12-26)

64. On May 14. 2014, while the prior filed parallel malpractice lawsuit against

Petitioner was still pending, the OED Director concluded his investigation, under 37 CFR

11.22(d). He thereafter empaneled a Committee on Discipline, presented the results of his

investigation to the Committee on Discipline, (which had returned a "probable cause" finding

based upon the OED Director investigation). The OED Director used this "probable cause"

finding asjustifyinghis initiation of a formal disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, under

37 CFR 11.22(h)(3), by filing a Complaint against Petitioner under 37 CFR 11.32.

65. Upon information and belief, the OED investigation was superficial, incomplete

and based exclusively upon the pleadings filed by counsel for the OED Grievant, in the prior filed

pending malpractice litigation, including specifically. Paragraph 57 of the Third Amended

Complaint and the OED Grievant Motionfor SummaryJudgment.

66. Upon information and belief, at no time did the OED investigation undertake an

independent review oftheOED Grievant January 25,2015, deposition inthemalpractice litigation,

which included information that was material, specifically, Blake's admissions that (a) she had

abandoned the foreign equivalents of the '519 Patent Applications; (b) the original product

configuration (developed in 1998-1999), which preceded the filing of the '519 Patent Application

in 2000, had been discontinued and (c) the EPRT products (TENS Machine) were now based upon

an ensemble of components incorporating a new '"Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap'\ that was

covered by new patent application, filed in 2008, in the name of David Estes, RES Exh No 18.

Daubert Hearing Transcript @ (reference Blake January 22, 2015, Blake Deposition (RES Exh

No. 26)

67. The foregoing admission by Blake were relevant, and directly bear upon the OED
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investigation, specifically, the OED allegations that the Petitioner's attainment of patent

protection, based upon the '519 Patent Application, was the EPRT "leual objective'', from and

afterAugust 2008; the Petitioner unintentional abandonment of the '519 Patent Application caused

anyeconomic harm to EPRT, andthe Petitioner's periodic telephonic contacts in the "monitoring"

the status of the appeal of the '519 Patent Application from and after 2008, was insufficient and

amounted to neglect; and, the credibility of OED witnesses.

68. Upon information and belief,at no time did the OED investigation include a review

Maybeck Expert Report dated January 15. 2015, or his June 1. 2015, Deposition., which included

information that was material to an investigation under37 CFR 11.22(d),, specifically, Maybeck's

admissions that (a) checking the status of an appeal before the Board of Appeals, every six (6)

months, is "more than necessary". RES Exh No.21, Maybeck Deposition Transcript, @ page 78.

line 3 to page 79, line 12, (b) the optional electronic communication from the public to the Patent

Office" has not replaced the more traditional methods of communication, RES Exh No. 27,

Maybeck Deposition Transcript, page 34, line 21 to page 35, line 24; (c) Maybeck still primarily

relies upon receipt of the Patent Office correspondence, in the US Mail, as his primary reminder

of Patent Office activity in a pending patent matter, RES Exh No.21, Maybeck Deposition

Transcript @ page 79, line 4-9

69. The foregoing admissions by Maybeck were relevant, and directly bear upon the

OEDinvestigation, specifically, the OEDallegations that the Petitioner's lackof access to optional

on-line "monitoring" the status of the appeal of the '519 Patent Application from and after 2008,

" There is no corresponding electroniccommunication link or capability from the PatentOffice
to the public. Accordingly, whatever transpires within the Patent Office is communicated to the
public, if at all. exclusively through the US Mails. Maybeck Deposition Transcript @ page 79,
line 4-9
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amounted to neglect.

70. Upon information and belief,at no time did the OED investigation include a review

of the Gray Damage Expert Report December 21, 2013. or his May 25. 2015, Gray Deposition,

which included information that was material to an investigation under 37 CFR 11.22(d),

specifically. Gray's admissions that EPRT had not sustained any loss or sales in USA, or other

damages, which could be attributed to the abandonment of the '519 Patent Application.

71. The conclusion of the OED investigation without review of the foregoing

depositions, and while the malpractice litigation was still pending, violated 37 CFR 11.22(d), and

was illegal, under i7 CFR 11.22(h), because such information, and the District Court ruling upon

the parties pending motion, cross-motion for summary judgment, implicated factual

determinations and issues, in common to the OED grievance against the Petitioner,

72. The conclusion of the OED investigation prior to May 2015. without review of the

foregoing depositions, while the malpractice litigation was still pending, specifically, prior to the

District Court ruling upon the parties pending motion, and cross-motion for summary judgment,

likely excluded "information and evidence", which could "iustifv or exonerate the allege actions

of the registered practitioneror mitigate the seriousness of any violation that may haveoccurred",

and was illegal, under 37 CFR 77.22(77/(emphasis added), GOV i^l3, OED RFl @ 3, Exhibit "A "

@1.

73. The OED Director reliance upon the "cold record", specifically, the incomplete

OED exhibit GOV #1. and the Paragraph 57 of the OED Grievant Third Amended Complaints in

the legal malpractice litigation, was both illegal, underthe mandatory standards for the conductof

an investigation under 37 CFR 11.22(d); and, patently inconsistent with its own interpretative

decision of 37 CFR 11.22(d). as reflected in its own RFI #2, GOV Ull, RFl @12 Moreover,
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conclusion of the OED investigation without review of the foregoing depositions, and,

forthcoming information from the parallel between the parties that necessarily implicated the

issuesbefore the OED, (e.g. the DistrictCourt rulings upon the parties pending motion, and cross-

motion for summaryjudgment), likely excluded "information and evidence", which was relevant

to the CommiUee on Discipline deliberations and unfairly influenced the Committee on Discipline

finding of probable c.f U.S. v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66, 78 (1986), 106 S.Ct. 938, 89 L.Ed.2d 50,

54 USLW 4167; followed BankofNovaScotia v. U.S., 487 U.S. 250, 251 (1988), 108 S.Ct. 2369,

101 L.Ed.2d 228, 62 A.F.T.R.2d 88-5738, 56 USLW 4714

(Concurring Opinion by Justice O'Connor) In my view, when a defendantmakesa
timely objection to the grand jury indictment based on a violation of Rule 6(d)the
remedy of dismissal of the indictment is appropriate if it is established that the violation
substantially influenced the grand iurv's decision to indict, or if there is grave doubt as to
whether it had such effect. See Lane, supra, at 449, 106 S.Ct., at ; Kotteakos v.
United States, 328 U.S. 750, 765, 66 S.Ct. 1239, 1248, 90 L.Ed. 1557 (1946). The focus of
theprejudice inquiry should beon theeffect of thealleged erroron thegrand jury's decision
to indict even if the court postpones its decision until the conclusion of the trial.

74. The acts and omissions of the OED Director, as set forth in Paragraphs 64-72.

inclusive, and the Director of the Patent & Trademark Office in her endorsement and ratification,

by her inaction, of the OED Director as set forth in Paragraphs 64-72, inclusive, is in (a) violation

of the mandatory requirements for the conduct of an investigation of allegations of attorney

violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct and (b) illegally soliciting a probable cause finding

based incomplete and biased information, and was illegal, under 37 CFR 11.22(h).

75. (Reserved)

76. More specifically, the OED violation of 5 USC 706 (1) & (2), as a result of the

OED Director acts and omissions set forth in Paragraphs 64-72, include

Rule 6(d) - restricts attendance of grand jury proceeding to prevent undue influence of grand
jury deliberation proceedings.
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• the OED Director's imoroDerlv and illegally conclude his investigation of the

allegation of misconduct against Petitioner's in violation of 37 CFR 11.22(d);

• the OED Director's improperly and illegallv empaneling of a Committee on

Discipline, in violation of 37 CFR 11.22(h), in pursuit of a probable cause

finding;

• the OED Director's improperly and illegally initiation of a disciplinary

proceeding, in violation of 37 CFR 1.32,

77. As a direct and proximateconsequence of the OED violation of violates5 USC 706

(1) & (2), as set forth in Paragraph 76, the Petitioner's procedural and substantive constitutional

rights under, U.S. Constitution, Amend 5, have been violated.

WHEREFORE Petitioner request the Court reverse the Final Order of suspension dated,

February 9, 2018, includingentering an Order granting the following relief:

a. Dismissing the disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, with prejudice;

b. Retroactively reinstating the Petitioner as registered patent attorney;

c. Purging the Patent Office records of the suspension of Petitioner;

d. Awarding Petitioner of compensatory damages for his attorney fees, cost and for his

expenditure of his professional time, under 5 U.S.C. §504, of not less than $250,000

or according to proof

e. Granting Petitioner such other relief as it deems just and appropriate.

COUNT II

OED Misconduct Diirins Trial Of The Disciplinarv Proceedins

Which Denied FARO A Fair And Impartial Hearins -

False Certification Under 28 US.C. SI 746 ofOED Exhibit GOV Ul,

37

Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB   Document 1   Filed 03/13/18   Page 37 of 71 PageID# 554



78. The Petitioner incorporates paragraphs 1-44, as if restated herein and further

alleges.

79. As set forth herein, the OED conduct ofthe Trial of the disciplinary proceeding was

neither initiated "in accordance with law", and such Trial was conducted "without observance of

procedure required by law" 5 U.S.C. § 706 (2006). Garcia v. U.S., 442 Fed.Appx. 745, 748 (4"^

Cir 2010)

80. More specifically, the OED misconduct during trial of the disciplinary proceeding

denied FARO a fair and impartial hearing and includes violations of State & Federal Law,

specifically, the OED false certification under 28 USC 1746, of the completeness of the OED

exhibit GOV #1, and effected concealment of material information and evidence relevant to both

the OED allegations of misconduct and the discipline sought to be imposed, and imposed by the

ALJ. 28 U.S.C. 1746 is reproduced below for the convenience of the Court

Unsworn Declarations Under Penalty OfPenury

Wherever, under any law of the United States or under any rule, regulation, order, or
requirement made pursuant to law, any matter is required or permitted to be supported,
evidenced, established, or proved bv the sworn declaration, verification, certificate,
statement, oath, or affidavit, in writing of the person making the same (other than a
deposition, or an oath of office, or an oath required to be taken before a specified official
other than a notary public), such matter may, with like force and effect, be supported,
evidenced, established, or proved by the unsworn declaration, certificate, verification, or
statement, in writing of such person which is subscribed by him, as true under penalty of
perjury, and dated, in substantially the following form:

1. If executed without the United States: "I declare (or certify, verify, or state) under
penaltyofperjury under the laws ofthe United States ofAmerica that the foregoing
is true and correct. Executed on (date). (Signature)".

2. Ifexecuted within the United States, its territories, possessions, or commonwealths:
"I declare (or certify, verify, or state) under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is
true and correct. Executed on (date). (Signature)".

38

Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB   Document 1   Filed 03/13/18   Page 38 of 71 PageID# 555



OEDfalse verification (28 U.S.C, §1746) under penalty ofperjury
ofthe completeness ofGov #7 , '*File Wrapper" of "519 Patent Application) ,

81. The trial of OED May 15, 2016, Complaint in the disciplinary proceeding against

Petitioner was based upon Petitioner's alleged neglect of prosecution of the '519 Patent

Application, an intentional abandonment the OED Greiyant's (EPRT) *519 Patent Application,

and the OED Grieyant loss of patent rights.

82. The Trial of the allegations of misconduct, as set forth in the OED Complaint

against Petitioner, were based in whole, or in part, upon OED Gov #7, ''File Wrapper" of "519

Patent Application

83. On or about April 8. 2015, the OED proyided Petitioner with the OED Exhibit list

and Exhibits, as per the schedule established by the ALJ. As part of the OED proposed Exhibits,

the OED submitted a declaration under 28 U.S.C. §1746, certifying that GOV U]. was a ''correct

copy"" of the Patent Office file for 'File Wrapper'\ OED Declaration under 28 U.S.C. §1746.

The OED Trial Exhibits in May 2016. were the same as the Exhibits proposed on April 8, 2015:

and, were accompanied by the same declaration under 28 U.S.C. §1746, certifying that GOV #1,

was a "correct copy" of the Patent Office file for "File Wrapper".

84. This OED declaration under 28 U.S.C. §1746, as to the completeness of the "File

Wrapper" of the '519 Patent Application, is reproduced below for the conyenience of the Court:

1. Shane M. Walter, hereby declare as follows:

1.1 am a Paralegal Specialist in the Office of the Solicitor at the United States Patent
and Trademark Office ("USPTO"), 600 Dulany Street, Alexandria, Virginia.

2. The attached patent application files is correct copy of official USPTO electronic
data retrieyed by me from the USPTO's Patent Application Location and Monitoring

("PALM") system yia the PTOZone Intranet Portal, which is a central point for
accessing applications, information, and other resources within the USPTO.

3. Specifically, the attached document is the respective image file wrapper for: U.S.
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Patent Application No. 09/656.519.

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1746, I hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the
foregoing is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief

Shane M. Walters 4/8/2015

Paralegal Specialist Date
Office of Solicitor

U.S. Patent Office

85. The OED GOV # 1 exhibit of "File Wrapper", certified by the Office of Solicitor

as a '̂complete copy\ was anything but complete. Missinu from the File Wrapper were

correspondence between OED Grievant's new patent attorney, {patent attorney U4), Steven

Greenberg, Esq., and the Patent Office, on December7,2015 and May 2,2016 - (the Trial of the

OED Complaint commenced on May 10, 2016). These correspondence included

• A December 7, 2015. Petition for Revival of an Application for Patent Abandoned

Unintentionally Abandoned Under 37 CFR 1.137(a)

• A May 2. 2016. Decision granting the OED Grievant, December 7, 2015, Petitionfor

Revival

86. Neither of the December 7. 2015 nor the May 2, 2016 correspondence was

included in OED exhibit GOV #1. As of February 14. 2013. the Petitioner's power of attorney in

the '519 Patent Application had been revoked, GOV#7 @ page I. Accordingly, from and after

February 14. 2013. Petitioner did not have access to the confidential *519 Patent Application in

the Patent Office; and, could not discovered such correspondence prior to Trial.

87. Conversely, the OED had continuous access to the confidential '519 Patent

Application, up to and including the Trail on May 10-11, 2016, all correspondence filed with the

Patent Office in the '519 Patent Application on December 7, 2015 and May 2, 2016 by OED

Grievant's new patent attorney. Notwithstanding, such prior certification and continuous access.
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the OED did not amend or supplement OED exhibit GOV #1.

88. The OED concealment of the December 7, 2015 and May 2, 2016 Patent Office

correspondence from the OED Grievant's new patent attorney, from the Petitioner, was material

to the issues contestedat Trial, specifically, that the allegation that as a results of Petitioner's acts

and omissions, the *519 Patent Application was intentional abandoned; the failure to appeal the

June 1, 2009, Decision of the Board of Appeals, forfeited the ERPT patent rights; the allegations

of economic consequence flowing from thealleged loss of patent rights; and, the credibility of the

OED witnesses.

Materiality ofthe December 7, 2015 and May 2, 2016
Patent Office correspondence to discipline and sanction

89. During the Trial of the OED Complaint against Petitioner, the OED solicited

testimony from its witnesswho (a) made repeated reference to the File Wrapper of the '519 Patent

Application, Petitioner, (b) propounded exhibits to establish that Petitioner "'intentionally"

abandoned theOEDGrieyant's patent application ('519 Patent Application), (c) elicited testimony

and propounded exhibits to establish that the Petitioner legal seryices in prosecution of the patent

resulted inprosecution of the '519 Patent Application, was yirtually worthless; and (d)to establish

that the OED Grieyant business (EPRT) business was prejudiced because of the lack of patent

rights.

90. The ALJ Initial Opinion and Order dated September 2016. referenced and relied

upon the Trial testimony and the File Wrapper, in his findings of fact, upon which he based his

determination of misconduct and the imposition of discipline.

91. On January 13,2017, the Petitionerfiled a Motion, Under 37 CFR 11.55(h), For

An Order Reopening The Subject Disciplinary Proceeding For Consideration Of Newly

Discovered Evidence, ; Petition Exh No. 5, Rule 11.5(h) Motion to Reopen @ Exhibit "A " Walter
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Certification under 28 (JSC 1742 . The Director denied the Petitioner's Motion on the basis

that that Petitioner should have discovered such "evidence" before the May 10,2017, Trial. There

is no factual support for the Director conclusion, that Petitioner could have discovered the

December 7, 2015 and May 2, 2016 Patent Office correspondence in the "Confidential" Patent

Office files, GOV #1; Power ofAttorney @ 2 - Februarv 13.2013. Power ofAttorney to successor

patent counsel revoked Power ofAttorney to Petitioner. The Director denial of the Petitioner's

Rule 37 CFR 11.55(h) was therefore arbitrary capricious and unreasonable.

92. The OED acts and omission, as set forth herein Paragraphs 84-91, violates 5 USC

706(1)&(2),

93. As a direct and proximate consequenceof the OED violation of 5 USC 706 (1) &

(2),as set forth in Paragraphs 84-91, Petitioner wasdenied his right to fair, impartial and objective

review of the allegations of Professional misconduct against Petitioner,

94. As a direct and proximate consequence of the OED violation of 5 USC 706 (1) &

(2), as set forth in Paragraphs 84-91, Petitioner's procedural and substantive rights, U.S.

Constitution, Amend 5, were violated/

WHEREFORE Petitioner request the Court reverse the Final Order of suspension dated,

including entering an Order granting the following relief:

a. Dismissing the disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, with prejudice:

b. Retroactively reinstating the Petitioner as registered patent attorney;

c. Purging the Patent Office records of the suspension of Petitioner;

d. Awarding Petitioner of compensatory damages for his attorney fees, cost and for his

expenditure of his professional time, under 5 U.S.C. §504, of not less than $250,000

or according to proof
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e. Granting Petitioner such other relief as it deems just and appropriate.

COUNT III

{OED Misconduct Durins Trial Of The Disciplinary Proceedins

Denied FARO A Fair And Impartial Hearing -

Violation ofConfidentiality ofFederal Court Ordered Mediation

103 The Petitioner incorporates paragraphs 1-44, as if restated herein and further

alleges.

104 The Trial of the OED Complaint against Petitioner was conducted on May 10 &

11, 2016, in Miami, Florida, in the Federal District Court in U.S. Federal District Courthouse.

105 As set forth herein, the OED conduct ofthe Trial of the disciplinary proceeding was

neither "in accordance with law", and such Trial was conducted "without observance of procedure

required by law" 5 U.S.C. $ 706 a006). Garcia v. U.S., 442 Fed.Appx. 745, 748 (4"^ Cir 2010)

106 The OED misconductduring Trial includesa violation of the of Local Rulesof the

Federal District Court, and the law of the State of Florida, for the protection of the "confidentiality"

of a Federal Court ordered mediation.

(a) Local Rule 26(g) - Federal DistrictCourt for the Southern District of Florida

(1) Trial upon Failure to Settle. If the mediation conference fails to result in a
settlement, the case will be tried as originally scheduled.

(2) Restrictions on the Use of Information Derived During the Mediation
Conference. All proceedings of the mediation shall be confidential and are
privileged in all respects as provided under federal law and Florida Statutes §
44.405. The proceedings mav not be reported, recorded, placed into evidence,
made known to the Court or jury, or construed for any purpose as an admission
against interest. A party is not bound by anything said or done at the conference,
unless a written settlement is reached, in which case only the terms of the
settlement are binding (emphasis added)

(b) Fla. Stat, 44.405 - Confidentiality ofMediation
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Except as provided in this section, all mediation communications shall be
confidential. A mediation participant shall not disclose a mediation communication
to a person other than another mediation participant or a participant's counsel.

A violation of this section may be remedied as provided by s. 44.406. If the
mediation is court ordered, a violation of this section may also subject the mediation
participant to sanctions by the court, including, but not limited to, costs, attorney's
fees, and mediator's fees.

107. A Federal Court ordered mediation in the State of Florida is conducted before a

mediator and the parties, including the attorneys for the parties

108. The State of Florida prohibits recording or the making of a record of the

confidential mediation proceedings.

109. On August 28.2015. the OED Grievant and the Petitioner engaged in mediation of

the prior filed Federal District Court malpractice litigation; and, the parties reached a tentative

agreement (agreement to agree), with respect a number of basic terms, however, failed to agree as

the wording of Exhibit "A", the OED Grievant asserted was needed to revive the '519 Patent

Application. The negotiations were impassed. as to the wording of an Exhibit "A",

notwithstanding a tentative agreement (agreement to agree). The OED Grievant demanded a

letter of the Petitioner's law office letterhead, (Exhibit "A" to the tentative agreement), in which

Petitioner admit that he "intentionally" abandon, which was false. No such letter. (Exhibit "A"),

was ever created, and the tentative agreement never finalized or consummated

110. During the Trial of the OED Complaint against Petitioner, the OED called Meredith

Chaiken, the OED Grievant counsel, as its witness. Chaiken was allowed to testify, on direct

examination, over the Petitioner's timely objection, as to confidential mediation negotiations.

Chaiken's uncorroborated testimony asserted that the parties reach a final agreement and that

Petitioner had reneged on the agreement.. Neither Chaiken nor the OED ever produced any such

44

Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB   Document 1   Filed 03/13/18   Page 44 of 71 PageID# 561



agreement.

111. Upon information and belief, Chaiken's uncorroborated and perjurious testimony,

as to the existence of complete settlement agreement (including Exhibit "A"), was calculated to

mislead lead the Court relative to settlement discussion, and portrav the Petitioner as dishonest as

having reneged on his agreement to settle the malpractice litigation. No such complete settlement

was produced, because there wasn't any. OED Trial Counsel, Terry Kepler, compounded the

Chaiken perjurious testimony, by representing in open Court that she in fact had copy of the

settlement agreement including Exhibit "A".

112. The malpractice litigation was settled on September 1.2015, by a Joint Stipulation

ofDismissal with prejudice^^, under Rule 41. There was no reference toany settlement agreement

in the Joint Stipulation ofDismissal,

113. The OED acts and omission as set forth in Paragraphs 110-112, violates 5 USC 706

(1)&(2),

114. As a direct and proximateconsequence of the OED violationof violates 5 USC 706

(1) & (2), as set forth in Paragraphs 110-112. Petitioner's rights to fair and impartial an impartial

and objective review of the allegations of Professional misconduct under 37 CFR 11,22(d).

115. As a direct and proximate consequence of the OED violation of violates 5 USC

706 (1) & (2), as set forth in Paragraphs110-112, Petitioner's procedural and substantive rights,

U.S. Constitution, Amend 5.

116. The OED acts and omission as set forth herein Paragraphs 110-112, violates 5 USC

706(1)&(2),

The OED Exhibit List reference to GOV #40 is incorrectly identifies GOV #40 as having been
enteredon September 1, 2015, (the document Date Stamp indicating a September2, 2015, docket
entry).
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117. As a direct and proximate consequence of the OED violation ofviolates 5 USC 706

(1) & (2), as set forth in Paragraphs 110-112, Petitioner's rights to fair impartial and objective

review of the allegations of Professional misconduct under 37 CFR 11.22(d), were violated.

118. (Deleted as duplicative)

119. As a direct and proximate consequence of the OED violation of violates 5 USC

706 (1) & (2), as set forth in Paragraphs 110-112.Petitioner's violates Petitioner's procedural and

substantive rights, U.S. Constitution, Amend 5.

WHEREFORE Petitioner request the Court reverse the Final Order of suspension dated,

including entering an Order granting the following relief:

a. Dismissing the disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, with preiudice:

b. Retroactively reinstating the Petitioner as registered patent attorney;

c. Purging the Patent Office records of the suspension of Petitioner;

d. Awarding Petitioner of compensatorydamages for his attorney fees, cost and for his

expenditure of his professional time, under 5 U.S.C. §504, of not less than $250,000

or according to proof

e. Granting Petitioner such other relief as it deems just and appropriate.
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COUNT IV

{The Director Arbitrary & Unreasonable Denial Of
Petitioner's Motion OfEnlargement In Page Limitations Of

Post-Trial Brief To Respond To The ALJ Initial Opinion
&

Rejection ofRevised Substitute BriefAs Non-Conforming 37 CFR 11.55

120. The Petitioner incorporates paragraphs 1-44, as if restated herein and further

alleges.

121. As set forth herein, the Trial of the disciplinary proceeding was neither "in

accordance with law", and such Trial was conducted "without observance of procedure required

by law" 5 U.S.C. $ 706 (2Q06V Garcia v. U.S., 442 Fed.Appx. 745, 748 (4 '̂̂ Cir 2010)

122. Upon conclusion of the Trial of the OED disciplinary proceedings against the

Petitioner, the ALJ presiding over the Trial issued an Initial Opinion & Order on September 15,

2016., Petition Exh No. 2

123. The ALJ Inilial Decision & Order is subject to review by the Director of the United

Patent & Trademark Office, under 37 CFR 11.55, who has delegated her authority to the Office

of the General Counsel. The OED Director reports to the General Counsel. The instant Petition

asserts that the OED Director has violated the law in his investigation of the allegations against

Petitioner. The Patent Office Solicitor reports to General Counsel. The instant Petition asserts

that the attorneys from the Patent Office Solicitor have committed fraud upon the Court (ALJ),

and engaged in other acts and omissions prejudicial to the administration ofjustice during the Trial

before the Court (ALJ).

124. Under J7 CFR 11.55(c), the page number limitation, font size and line page spacing

of the Petitioner's Appeal Brief to the Director is governed by same rules as are applicable to

appeals briefs under Rule 32 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 37 CFR 11.55(c)
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is reproduced below:

(c) All briefs shall:

(1) Be filed with the USPTO Director at the address set forth in $ l.Ua)(3)(ii) of
this subchapter and served on the opposing party;

(2) Include separate sectionscontaining a concise statementof the disputed facts
and disputed points of law; and

(3) Be typed on 8 1/2 by 11-inch paper, and comply with Rule 32(a)(4M6) of the
Federal Rules ofAppellate Procedure, (emphasis added)

Rule 32(a) of the Federal Rules ofAppellate Procedure is set forth below:

(a) Form

(4) Paper Size, LineSpacing, and Margins. The brief must be on 8 1/2 by
11 inch paper. The text must be double-spaced, but quotations more than
two lines long may be indented and single-spaced. Headings and footnotes
may be single-spaced. Margins must be at least one inch on all four sides.
Page numbers may be placed in the margins, but no text may appear there.
(5) Typeface. Either a proportionally spaced or a monospaced face may be
used.

(A) A proportionally spaced face must include serifs, but sans-serif
type may be used in headings and captions. A proportionally
spaced face must be 14-point or larger.
(B) A monospaced face may not contain more than 10 1/2
characters per inch.

(6) Type Styles. A brief must be set in a plain, roman stvle. although italics
or boldface may be used for emphasis. Case names must be italicized or
underlined, (emphasis added)

125. Under i7 CFR 11.55(d), the length of the Petitioner's Appeal Brief to the Director

is governed by same rules as are applicable to appeals briefs under Rule 28 of the Federal Rules

of Appellate Procedure, Rule 37 CFR 11.55(c) is reproduced below:

(d) An appellant's, cross-appellant's, appellee's, and cross-appellee's brief shall be
no more than thirty pages in length, and comply with Rule 28(a)(2). (31 and (5)
through (10) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure. Any reply brief shall be
no more than fifteen pages in length, and shall comply with Rule 28(a)(2), (3), (8),
and (9) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure
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126. Rule 28(e) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure is set forth below;

(e) Length.

(1) Page Limitation. Unless it complies with Rule 28.1(e)(2) and (3), the
appellant's principal brief must not exceed 30 pages: the appellee's
principal and response brief, 35 pages; the appellant's response and reply
brief, 30 pages; and the appellee's reply brief, 15 pages.

(2) Type-Volume Limitation.

(A) The appellant's principal brief or the appellant's response and
reply brief is acceptable if:

(i) it contains no more than 14.000 words: or
(ii) it uses a monospaced face and contains no more than 1,300

lines of text.

(B) The appellee's principal and response brief is acceptable if:

(i) it contains no more than 16,500 words; or
(ii) it uses a monospaced face and contains no more than 1,500

lines of text.

127. The ALJ Initial Decision & Order was thirty-four (34), single spaced pages, 12

point type. When you convert the numberof pages, the document format and font point type, to

the number of pages, the document format and font point type, specified for the post-trial briefs,

under Rule37 CFR 11.55(c) (double space, 14 point type), the length of ALJ Initial Decision &

Order is approximately seventy-nine (79) page double spaced, 14 point text. (32 page single

spaced, equates to 64 pages double spaced: and, an increase in font point size from 12to 14 point

type, the length of the ALJ Initial Opinion is increased from an additional 20% to the number

of pages of the Initial Decision & Order.

128. Appellant estimated, based upon his prior experience under Rule 28(e), a 14.000

word brief equates to about forty (40) pages of double spaced, 14 point text. Accordingly, On

October26.2016. Appellant fileda Motion To Waive The 40 Page Limit For Initial Brief, to permit
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an increase in the permissible length of his Brief from his estimated length of forty (40) pages to

sixty (60) pages, or 33.33% less than less than equivalent length ALJ Initial Decision & Order, in

the same document format (when adjusted for double line spacing and 14 point type font). The

Director denied this Petitioner Motion

129. Petitioner, thereafter, was forced to resort to a less than complete and detailed

response to the issues raised in the Initial Opinion & Order, including specifically effectively

challenging the ALJ's incomplete recitation and misinterpretation of facts. In order to conserve

space, the Petitioner was forced to (a) consolidate certain of the required sections in the Brief and

(b) resorted to numerous "footnotes" to gain better use the limit document space accorded under

35 CFR 11.55. Upon OED filing of Motion to Strike, Petitioner's Initial Brief was rejected.

Petitioner thereafter file a ''Substitute Brief\ which further limited his ability to further contestthe

ALJ Initial Decision 6c Order.

130. The '̂ Substitute Brief complied with formalities of the Rules as to format of the

Brief

131. Notwithstanding, Director subsequently rejected the Substitute Brief because, in

her opinion, the content did not sufficiently elaborate the basis or grounds assert for appeal,

adopting the OED claims and assertion of feigned ignorance, of the basis of the appeal of the ALJ

Initial Opinion. In a limited numberof instances, the Substitute 5n£?/"was lacking in reference to

the Record, and failed to adequately dispute the ALJ Initial Opinion. The OED was not prejudice

by such deficiencies in support of the Petitioner's argument. Certainly such substantive

deficiencies, to the extent they did exist, did not justify striking the entire Substitute Brief The

OED and Director's subjective criticism, as to the lack of elaboration of the argument, was the

result of the arbitrary constraint upon Petitioner when Director Denied the Petitioner Motion to
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IVaiver the forty (40) limit on the length of the Petitioner's Brief, and feigned ignorance of the

issues on Appeal.

132. The OED acts and omission as set forth herein Paragraphs 127-131, violates 5 USC

706(1)&(2),

133. As a direct and proximate consequence of the OED violationof violates5 USC 706

(1) & (2), as set forth in Paragraphs 127-131. Petitioner's rights to fair and impartial an impartial

and objective review of the allegations of Professional misconduct under 37 CFR 11.22(d).

134. Asa direct and proximate consequence of the OED violation of violates 5 USC 706

(1) & (2), as set forth in Paragraphs 127-131, Petitioner's procedural and substantive rights, U.S.

Constitution, Amend 5.

WHEREFORE Petitioner request the Court reverse the Final Order of suspension dated,

including entering an Order granting the following relief:

a. Dismissing the disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner, with prejudice;

b. Retroactively reinstating the Petitioner as registered patent attorney

c. Purging the Patent Office records of the suspension of Petitioner;

d. Awarding Petitioner of comoensatorv damages for his attorney fees, cost and for

his expenditure of his professional time, under 5 U.S.C. §504, of not less than

$250,000 or according to proof.

e. Granting Petitioner such other relief as it deems just and appropriate.
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COUNT V

The ALJ Initial Opinion & Order Lacks
Clear & Convincing Evidence Of Any Violation

of the Rules of Professional Conduct

135. The Petitioner incorporates paragraphs 1-44, as if restated herein and further

alleges.

136. The Director Final Order adopts (more accurately ''rubber stamped") the ALJ

Initial Opinion and Order of September 15,2016, with one very notable exception. The Director

rejected the ALJ the "primary" reason, or predicate, for his finding of neglect, as reflected in ALJ

Opinion (Initial Opinion @ page 21), reproduced below for the convenience of the Court,

The Court finds that Respondent's neglectof the '519 Application stemmed primarily
from his decision to move to the 28 W. Flagler address. Had he remained in his
original office, or chanued his correspondence address to his home office, he would

have timely received the Board Decision and the Notice of Abandonment. He would

therefore have had an opportunity to inform EPRT of those documents, agree upon a
course of action, and file appropriate responses. Instead, he entrusted a receptionist to
sort his mail without his input. By doing so. he put the burden on the receptionist to
recognize critical correspondence and notify him in a timely manner. It wasa calculated
risk that has cost both Respondent and EPRT

137. The quotation from the ALJ Initial Opinion, providesa clear windowintothe ALJ's

deliberative process, his dependence uponcircumstantial evidence and the construct of a narrative

based upon one unsupported assumption after another. The practice is legally impermissible

where, as here, the Trail was conducted within a Courtroom in the Courthouse for the Federal

District in Miami, Florida, ("stacking of inferences"). Florida law prohibits stacking of inferences

where there is no direct evidence to establish the basic facts from which an inference may be

drawn, being impermissible in Florida, Collins v. Marriott Intern., Inc., 749 F.3d 951. 959 (2014),

see National UnionFire Ins. Co. ofPittsburgh v. Tyco integratedSecurity LLC, 2015 WL3905018
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*15-*16 (SD Fla 2015), for choice of law analysis

ALJAnalysis & Conclusions Are Based Upon Inadmissible Evidence

138. Al all times material hereto, the Petitioner represented the OED Grievant from his

offices in Miami, Florida. The Trail of the disciplinary proceeding was conducted on May 10-11,

2016, at the Federal District Courthouse in Miami, Florida. The procedural rules governing the

Trail of the disciplinary proceeding are dictated by venue of the forum of the Trial, which is this

case is Miami Florida, including the rules governing the admission and exclusion of evidence.

139. With very limited exception, the OED case was a construct of circumstantial

evidence, and the impermissible "stacking of inferences". The ALJ Initicd Opinion was thereby

based upon speculation and conjecture, and thus unsupported by substantial (admissible) evidence.

Consequently, the Director Final Order, by wholesale adoption ALJ Initicd Opinion, was also

based upon speculation and conjecture, in violation of the law.

140. The OED has repeatedly and improperly introduced circumstantial evidence at

Trial, based upon the impermissible "stacking of inferences", to construct a narrative predicated

upon speculation and conjecture. The "stacking of inferences", as hereinafter set forth with

respect to each allege violation against Petitioner, is unavailable to establish negligence or

proximate cause, unless the initial inference can be established to the exclusion of all other

reasonable inferences, and therefore an uncontroverted fact

141. The ALJ Initial Opinion is subject to review under 5 USC 706, Whitmore v.

Department ofLabor, 680 F.3d 1353, 1366 (Fed Cir 2012)

By statute, we may set aside the judgment of the MSPB if the decision is "(1)
arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with
law; (2) obtained without procedures required bv law, rule, or regulation having
been followed: or (3) unsupported bv substantial evidence." 5 U.S.C. § 7703(c). In
exercising this limited scope of review, we do not consider how we would have
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decided the case in the first instance, and may not merely substitute our judgment
for that of the board. See Mendoza v. Merit Systems Protection Bd, 966 F.2d 650,
653 (Fed.Cir.1992).

142. As set forth hereinafter, with respect to each asserted violation of the OED Rules

of Professional Conduct, the ALJ analysisof the recordand testimony is also inconsistent with his

own factual findings, and/or such evidence, when considered in the aggregate,detractsfrom his

conclusions^', there is no substantial evidence. Id @ 1368

Whetherevidence is sufficientlyclear and convincing to carry this burden of proof
cannot be evaluated by looking only at the evidence that supports the conclusion
reached. Evidence only clearly and convincingly supports a conclusion when it
does so in the aggregate considering all the pertinent evidence in the record, and
despite the evidence that fairly detracts from that conclusion. See, e.g., Li Second
Family LP. v. Toshiba Corp., 231 F.3d 1373, 1381 (Fed.Cir.2000)

143. It is undisputed that the record in this case is devoid of any direct evidence of

wrongdoing, specifically, any violation of 37 C.F.R. §I0.77(c) - Neglecting the '519 Application:

any violation of i7 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(8) - Failure to Inform EPRT ofPTO Correspondence',

anyviolation of 37 C.P.R. §10.84(a) - Failing to Seek EPRT's Lawful Objectives; any violation

of 37 C.F.R. §10.112(c)(4) - Failing to Return EPRT's Client File; any violation of 37 C.F.R.

§ 10.112(c)(4) - Refusing to return EPRT's clientfile when requested: or any violation of, 37

C.F.R. §10.23(b)(6) -Engaging in Other Conduct that Adversely Reflects on Respondent's

Fitness to Practice;

144. Accordingly, the ALJ has had to rely upon circumstantial evidence. The ALJ

reliance upon circumstantial evidence is not without its limits; and, under the facts of this case, his

analysis and conclusion are based upon conjecture and speculation, and therefore cannot support

the conclusion sought to be established. National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh v. Tyco

integrated Security LLC, 2015 WL 3905018 *23 (SD Fla 2015)
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a. Client Management Structure & Inventor Oversight of Intellectual Property
Activates and Estate

145. The above quote passage from Initial Opinion is indeed reflective of the ALJ's

deliberative process, his unbridled willingness to engage in speculation and his boundless embrace

of the illegal ''stacking of inferences", to fill the gaping holes in the OED evidence, in the

prosecution the disciplinary action against the Petitioner.

146. As set forth herein, the ALJ also chose to totallv ignore, in his deliberative process,

the documentary evidence and testimony, relative to the (a) EPRT legal objectives in its pursuit of

patentprotection, as explicitlvcommunicated to patentcounsel:(RES Exh No, 2), and, (b) adopted

the OED artificially inflating the role and responsibilities of the office manager, Blake, (an

administrative assistant and the nominal president of the client, EPRT), as the primary corporate

representative responsible for overseeing the Petitioner's work and relationship with the client,

EPRT client., which was false.

Clearly, each of the co-inventors, Estes & Wendell (the "co-inventors") of the '519 Patent

Application, not the administrative assistant and the nominal president of EPRT, Blake, were the

most knowledgeable and sophisticate corporate individual, from whom patent counsel sought

guidance and input, (RES Exh No. 2) for

a. technical analysis,

b. EPRT product features and operation and

c. all of the substantive decisions relative the '519 Patent Application {Tr.VoL /,

296:4-17).

Moreover, Blake acknowledge to Petitioner, that Wendell & Estes, they were decision

makers, relative patent matters, {Tr. Vol. /, 2P6, 16-19)\ and. Estes, as the EPRT Director of

Engineering, was the responsible EPRT executive, was exercising exclusive corporate oversight
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of the prosecution of the '519 Patent Application (RES Exh. No. 4),

147. The record evidence is also clear and unequivocal that whatever role Katherine

Blake (BLAKE) claims to have had in the involvement with the "519 Patent Application, was

limited to administration (processing Petitioner's statements for fees), and as a conduit for

forward emails and Patent Office file to Keith Wendell (WENDELL) in Australia (7>. Vol. /,

296:4-17) Thus, BLAKE's direct involvement with FARO on substantive matters was limited to

trademark matters, (Tr. Vol. /, 296,17-19) BLAKE was, therefore, also kept abreast of FARO's

patent related activities on behalfof EPRT, because she was responsible for office administration,

e.g. processing FARO's invoices, (RES Exh No. 26,197:2-3). BLAKE also deferred to ESTES

and WENDELL as to her knowledge/awareness of the functional and technical features of the

EPRT BodiHealth TENS machine, (RES Exh No. 26,196:23 to 197:1)

148. The ALJ disregarded the substantive evidence of the inventor oversight of the

patent estate and Petitioner's testimony, as to Blake's subordinate role in the EPRT, and in lieu

thereof, applied a quantitative standard, as indicated of Blake's responsivities - the ALJ simple

counted the number of emails which included her as an address, without regard to their content or

the additional addressee, to whom such emails were addressed. The vast number of emails from

Petitioner to Blake, were also addressed Estes the EPRT Director of Engineering. RES Exh Nos.

30, 31, 33, 34, 37 & 38 (compilations of emailsfrom 2005-2011). Where Petitioner wrote to

Blake exclusive, such correspondence was composed to emphasize a positive or glass "half full"

picture of the EPRT patent prospects, for use and distribution by Blake to attract potential

investors.

149. As set forth hereinafter, the OED conduct of the Trial of the disciplinary proceeding

was neither "in accordance with law", and such Trial was conducted "without observance of

56

Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB   Document 1   Filed 03/13/18   Page 56 of 71 PageID# 573



procedure required by law" 5 U.S.C. 6 706 (2006). Garcia v. U.S., 442 Fed.Appx. 745, 748 (4''̂

Cir 2010).

(b) There is insufficient substantial admissible evidence of Ne2lect to
establish a Violation Of37 C.F.R. §10,77(c) because (a) there is no direct evidence that
Petitioner did not comport his prosecution ofthe ^518 Patent Application with the Rules
ofPractice ofthe Patent Office^ and (b) the circumstantial evidence as to causation and
proximate does not exclude other reasonable alternative inferences negating misconduct
and/or wrongdoing

150. With respect to the 37 C.F.R. ^JO. 77(c) - Nesleclin2 the '519 ADplicalion. TheALJ

concluded in his Initial Opinion that Petitioner did not engage in any act and/or omission inconsistent

with theevidence andhis testimony, specifically, that(a)he didnot receive a copy of theJune 1, 2009,

Board of Appeal of Patent Appeals Decision, in 2009; and (b) first became aware , Board of Appeal

of Patent Appeals Decision, in October 2011, when his Alexandria associate obtained a copy from

physical inspection of the Patent Office files

Respondent worked competently to achieve EPRT's goals from 2002 until 2006, when
he filed the Second Appeal. After doing so, he resigned himself to waiting for a PTO
response. According to the OED Director's theory. Respondent received that response
in 2009. Rather than file an appeal, as he had done twice already. Respondent chose to
ignore the Board Decision. He then proceeded to stonewall and avoid Ms. Blake for
more than a year. Missing from the OED Director's theory is any hint of Respondent's
purported motive for this sharp shift in attitude. As of 2009, his relationship with
EPRT and its personnel remained congenial. In fact, he was handling a number of
other patent and trademark matters for the company at the time. The OED Director has
provided no reason why Respondent would act in the manner alleged in the Complaint.
The Court is therefore persuaded that Respondent did not receive the copies of the
Board Decision or the Notice of Abandonment in 2009. Having failed to receive the
documents when they were initially sent. Respondent did not become aware of the
actual status of the '519 Application until October 201 K when he asked his associate

to personally check the physical file.''' Hise-mail to Ms. Blake on July 30, 2010, was
therefore not deceptive or dishonest. Accordingly, the Court finds that the OED
Director failed to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that Respondent violated 37
C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4).

As discussed supra, Respondent's delayed awareness of these documents was due to his own
negligent and neglectful conduct.
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Petition Exh No, 2, Initial Opinion @ 22

151. At all times material hereto, the Petitioner comported his representation ofEPRT

with, and adhered to. the Patent Rules of Practice, with respect to (a) his submission of a Power

of Attorney, (b) maintained a current "correspondence address", (c) used traditional and

accepted modes of communication with the Patent Office, including telephonic

communication, facsimile, "snail" mail and in-person interview with Patent Office personnel,

to periodically monitor the status of the appeal of the '519 Patent Application, and (d)

reasonably informed his client, in layman terms, as to content of Patent Office correspondence

and status of the *519 Patent Application.

152. At all times material hereto, the Petitioner monitored the status of the appeal of

the '519 Patent Application at the Board of Patent Appeals, no less frequently than every six

(6) months, by traditional and customary means; or, more frequently when a conference with

the client was contemplated sooner than six (6) months.

153. The Docketing Notice, {RES Exh No, 11, Bates No. 55), for the appeal of the '519

Patent Application directed Petitioner to communicate with the Board, relative to the status of

the appeal, viafacsimile or telephone. Petitioner testified that he periodically telephoned the

Clerk at the Board, no less than every six (6) months, from and after the appeal was filed and

subsequently docketed'̂ . Moreover, there is corroboration that the respondent's frequency &

method of monitoring was "more than adequate'̂ ". More specifically, thePetitioner proffered the

The Record also reflects the that the same practice was followed by ERPT patent expert,
Gary Maybeck in Ft. Lauderdale, FL, located in Florida

Maybeck Deposition. RES Exh No. 27, Bates No. 339 @ 78:6-19)
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sworn deposition as a non-expert of Gregory Maybeck, a patent attorney contemporary in Miami,

as to his frequency of his monitoring an application before the Board of Appeals every six (6)

months (classic hearsay), RES Exh 21. Mr., Maybeck was the EPRT patent expert in the EPRT

malpractice litigation against Petitioner; and, Mr. Maybeck's the expert report was annexed to

GOV i^26, EPRT Motion for Summary. All of the OED Exhibits were also included in the

Petitioner's List of Exhibits. Upon the conclusion of the trial, the OED moved to withdrew from

evidence, over Petitioner's objection, the Maybeck expert report, which the ALJ permitted. The

ALJ, thereafter improperlydenied admission of the Maybeck sworn testimony. Notwithstanding,

there is nothing to refute that the Petitioner's custom and practice was unreasonable under

circumstances, (the Petitioner's custom and practice in monitoring the status of the '519 Patent

Application before the Board of PatentAppeals was reasonable) Had he Maybeck deposition

been admitted into evidence, as to "custom and practice" ofan experience practitioner, it would

have confirmed the reasonableness of Petitioner's monitoring of status of an appeal. Other

than the ALL's "hind-sight", there was no other evidence as the custom and practice of

attorneys to define a monitoring standard.

154. According to the ALJ, (applying a hind sightperspective of the facts), there were

permissible, optional and alternative means for monitoring the status of the appeal at the Board of

Patent Appeals, and that such permissible, optional and alternative means may have revealed the

AUIniliai Opinion, @page 15,footnote (JO)

Respondent could have monitored the status of the '519 Application electronically via the
PAIR system had he associated the application with his Customer Number. He chose not
to do so. Instead, he trusted the physical mail and his own occasional phone calls to ensure
he was properly apprised of the progress of the '519 Application. Use of the PAIR system
is not required, but it is strongly encouraged by PTO to eliminate scenarios like this one.
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status of the '519 Patent Application at the Board of Patent Appeals sooner. Petition Exh No, 2.

Initial Decision @ 15. There was no direct evidence that Petitioner did not comport his

prosecution of the *510 Patent Application, in accordance with the Rules of Practice, or that

Petitioner was either careless, inappropriate, his monitoring of the status of the appeal, in any way,

contributed to the unintentional abandonment of the '519 Patent Application, Petitioner's

monitoring practices (phone and facsimile), independent of on-line access to the Patent Office

files, was acceptable when adopted in November 2002 (Power of Attorney), and comported with

the Rules of Practice, RES Exh No, II, Docketing Notice. Accordingly, Petitioner's practice,

acceptable when adopted in 2002, cannot be used as element or predicate to prove neglect

occurring in 2009. To the extent a violation ofthe OED Rules of Professional Conduct, rests upon

a practice, acceptable when adopted, reliance thereon is otherwise was time barred, (cannot be

used as an element, or as a predicate fact, to support a violation occurring before September 16,

2007) Remigio v. Kelly, 2005 WL 1950138, *7 (DC SD NY 2005).

155. Accordingly, the ALJ Initial Opinion of September 15, 2016, and Director Final

Order of February 9, 2018, which adopted the ALJ Initial Opinion of September 15, 2016

finding Petitioner, lacks substantial (admissible) evidence to establish a Violation Of 37 C.F.R.

§ 10.77(c) for Neglect because (a) there is no direct evidence that Petitioner's did not comport his

prosecution of the '518 Patent Application with the Rules of Practice of the Patent Office, (b) the

circumstantial evidence as to neglect and proximate cause, does not exclude other reasonable

alternative inferences negating misconduct and/or wrongdoing and/or (c) and/or all of the

evidence, when considered in the aggregate, "'detracts from his conclusions'', of neglect.

Accordingly, the Director Final Order of February 9, 2018, holding Petitioner in violation of

37 C.F.R. §10.77(c) for Neglect must be reversed
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(c) There is insufficient substantial evidenceto establish a Failure ToInform
to establish a Violation Of 37 C.F.R, 6S10,23(c)(8)). because (a) there is no direct
evidence that Petitioner's did notforward the November 14^ 2005 Final Rejection to the
client, and (b) the circumstantial evidencedoes not exclude other reasonable alternative
inferences negating misconduct and/or wrongdoing

156. The OED's Complaint, is classic "shotgun pleading", asserting a "litany" of

Petitioner's alleged violations of the rules. Remarkably, the OED never alleged that Petitioner

violated 37 CFR i>JJ.104. (which required Petitioner keep the client "reasonablv informed"). The

Petitioner's aggregate email correspondence, from June 2005 to November 2005, RES Exh No,

30, which includes the Petitioner's November 29, 2005, email, more than "reasonably informed"

the client of Patent Office correspondence, to permit an informed participation in the solicitation

of a patent based upon the '519 Patent Application

157. The OED allegations of misconduct, relative to 37 CFR $10.23(c)(8), is

therefore inconsistent with the OED failure to allege a violation of 37 CFR $11.104, and

suggests that a technical violation of 37 CFR $10.23(c)(8) is subsumed, or rendered moot,

by compliance with the more pervasive and comprehensive standards ofi7 CFR $11.104.

158. There is no direct evidence of record that Petitioner failed to forward a copy of the

November 14, 2005, Final Rejection, to EPRT (specifically to the inventor. David Estes). Therecord

suggests the contrary.

159. The allegations of a technical violation of 37 C.F.R. $10.23(c)(8), is based upon

independent and discrete violation of the OED rules, which occurred in November 2005, or more

than five (5) years prior to September 16, 2011. Accordingly, such alleged technical violation is

time barred, under the applicable five (5) federal year statute of limitation, (iJ U.S.C. §2462), even

if these alleged violations have a '"'continuing impact" on the client, Remisio v. Kelly, 2005 WL

1950138, *7.
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160. Even if the allegations of misconduct occurring in November 2005, are not time-

barred, the perceived technical violation of 37 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(8), is

a. inconsistent with inferences to be drawn from the circumstantial

evidence, specifically, the fact that neither recipient of November 29,

2005, email had any questions, relative to the Petitioner's explanation,

of the status of the claims under examination, and/or

b. 37 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(8), has been subsumed in the Petitioner's

compliance with 37 CFR $11.104, specifically, the apparent

acknowledgement by the ALJ that Petitioner to keep it "reasonably informed''

of the status of the prosecution of the '519 Patent Application, without ever

providing EPRT a copy of November 14, 2005, Final Rejection - the ALJ

conceding that the client was fully informed in December 2006m upon receipt

of Petitioner's draft of the Appeal Brief filed at the Board of Appeals.

161. As is evident herein, the Petitioner has complied with his obligations under 37 CFR

$11.104, to EPRT to keep it "reasonably informed" of the status of the prosecution of the '519

Patent Application. It is undisputed that the Petitioner that the emails to EPRT between June to

September 2005, to EPRT, explaining the status of the claims (allowed, potentially allowable,

rejected), and, the status of application of the '519 Patent Application before the Patent Office

(to be appealed).

• On June 30, 2005. FARO filed a Notice ofAppeal of the Final Rejection of April 19.

2005. (RES Exh No. 47, Bates No. 583-84);

• C)n July 7^ 2005. FARO conducted a Telephone Interview with the Patent Examiner,

(RES Exh No. 49, Bates No. 588-89);
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On July 27, 2005. FARO sent an email to EPRT (WENDELL, BLAKE & Dr. Cleve

Laird, EPRT FDA compliance officer), in which adyised EPRT;

"The Patent Examiner (Examiner Oropeza) had no intention ofallowing this case
so it has been our intention from the outset to either wait her out, until she was
transferred or quit or to go above her to the Board ofAppeals. That is where the
application is today." (RES Exh No, 30y Bates No. 420)

On November 14, 2005, the Patent Examiner, or more accurately her Supervisor, issued

yet another Final Reiection. in which he restated the Final Rejection of June 20. 2005.

of all of the claims, suggested amendments to the Method & System claims (3 & 4). to

avoid the final rejection, and persisted in the Final Rejection of the Claim 25 for the

Electrode Wrap (key component of the invention), (RES Exh No. 8, Bates No. 27-37)',.

On November 29, 2005. FARO sent an email {RES Exh No. 9, Bates No.38'40)^ to

EPR T, (ESTES & BLAKE), in which FARO advised them that the Patent Office

"...had issued an office action (after the appeal (was) taken and briej filed), in
which he has allowed Method Claims 3 & 4 (copies attached) -1 have also included
Claim 23 to which each ofthese allowedclaims make reference. The dependent
Claims 3 & 4 are to be read as including all ofthe limitations ofClaim 23 - where
a limitation in Claim 23 isfurther defined (as in Claims 3 & 4), the limitations of
Claims 3 & 4 respectively replace the limitation in Claim 23.

The appeal is sioinn forward, because we are entitled to broader coverage as to the
configuration ofthe wrap itself

The FARO November 29, 2005, email to EPRT include a copy of Claims 3. 4 & 23.

referenced in the November 29, 2005, email, (RES Exh No. 9, Bates No.38-40). In the

FARO November 29, 2005. email to EPRT (ESTES and BLAKE), explicitly solicited

comment or questions re the content of the November 29,2005 email, (RES Exh No. 30,

Bates No. 421). FARO never received and comments or question from EPRT relative to

the content of the November 29, 2005 email
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162. The Petitioner November 29,2005, email to EPRT was but one of factor in keeping

client "reasonably informed". Accordingly, the ALJ Initial Opinion of September 15, 2016,

and Director Final Order of February 9, 2018, which adopted the ALJ Initial Opinion of

September 15, 2016 finding Petitioner is (a) unsupported by substantial (admissible) evidence,

because the alleged technical violation of 37 CFR ^10.23(c)(8), (b) is inconsistent with the

OED failure to allege a violation of 37 CFR J.I 04. and/or or (c) and/or all of the evidence,

when considered in the aggregate, ""detractsfrom his conclusions", of not providing ERPT witha

copy of the November 14, 2005, Final Rejection. Alternatively, the Petitioner's apparent

compliance 37 CFR ^11.104 subsumes any alleged violation of 37 CFR ^10.23(c)(8),

Accordingly, the DirectorFinal Order of February 9, 2018, holding Petitioner in violation of

37 CFR ^10.23(c)(8) for Failure To Inform, must be reversed

(d) There is insufficient substantial evidence to establish a violation of 37
C.P.R. §10.84(a)forFailing to Seek EPRTs Lawful Objectives, because (a) there is
no direct evidence that Petitioner's did not pursue the client's lawful objectives as
communicated to him in November 2002 and in Ausust 2008, and (b) the circumstantial
evidence does not exclude other reasonable alternative inferences negating misconduct
and/or wrongdoing

163. The Petitioner incorporates paragraphs 1-44, as if restated herein and further

alleges.

164. There is no direct evidence of record that Petitioner failed to seek the ERPT lawful

objectives. The record suggests the contrary and is reflected in both the Petitioner's Trail testimony,

and in the Petitioner's Exhibits, which corroborates such testimony.

165. Petitioner testified extensively at the Trial in May 2016, (Tx Vol:175 - Vol 11:118),

that

• the EPRT product, based the 1998-1999 prototype,with the original electrode wrap
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configuration had become obsolete:

• EPRT had discontinued the its commercial product configuration, based upon the

1998-1999 prototype incorporating the original electrode wrap

• EPRT was abandoning a number of the foreign applications and issued patent

corresponding to the '519 Patent Application;

• Petitioner was directed by EPRT (Estes) to refrain from incurring any additional

legal expenses in the pursuit of the prosecution of the '519 Patent Application

based upon the 1998-1999 prototype;

• Petitioner was directed by Estes, a co-inventor of the '519 Patent Application, to

file a new patent application based upon a product configuration having a

Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap;

• The abandonment of the '519 Patent Application was unintentional;

166. The Petitioner's Trial testimony was corroborated by direct evidence, specifically,

the Petitioner's exhibits,

• RES Exh No. 2. - June 19, 2002, Estes email to patent counsel discussing the

Patent Office rejection of the '519 Patent Application, which identified the

'"electrode wrap'̂ as the "Atry component of the EPRT device and '519 Patent

Application.

Petitioner, thus, understood, as of November 2002, when EPRT retained him as

its patent counsel, that the attainment of allowance of the patent claims for the

electrode wrap^ was EPRT "legal objective" in pursing patent protection.

• RES Exh No. 10. - Estes August 28, 2008, Patent Application for the
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Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap:

Petitioner, thus, understood, as of August 2008, when EPRT filed the Patent

Application for the Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap that the attainment of

allowance of the patent claims for the electrode wrap Conductive Silver

Electrode Wrap p, was the EPRT 'legal obiective"(and EPRT legal objective)

- the pursue patent protection for a product configuration, based upon

Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap.

RES ExhNo. 18. - Julv20.2015, ofDaubert Hearing: (a) EPRT had de minimis

U.S. sales, when it sued Petitioner for $5.8MM; (b) EPRT was discontinuing

its original product as of the 2013, as obsolete because it was being replaced by

new product configuration, based upon Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap\ (c)

EPRT was abandoning the foreign equivalents to the '519 Patent Application;

(d) the EPRT expert damage report was stricken, and all testimony based upon

that report was to be excluded at trial, because of the absence of any credible

evidence of economic harm, that could be attributable (no nexus) to the

unintentional abandonment of the '519 Patent Application and ,

The OED investigation of the allegations of misconduct concluded on May 15,

2016, when it initiated a disciplinary proceeding against the Petitioner.

Accordingly, the OED investigation of the allegations of misconduct did not

include, as information and evidence, the Hearing Transcript July 20, 2015, of

Daubert Hearing transcript
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• RES Exh No. 26 - January 25. 2015, Blake deposition, was referenced

extensively by the District Court in the Daubert hearing, specifically, the

• (b) EPRT was discontinuing its original product as of the 2013, as obsolete

because it was being replaced by new product configuration, based upon

Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap: (c) EPRT was abandoning the foreign

equivalents to the '519 Patent Application;

167. Thus, the EPRT "legal objectives", relative to its patent protection evolved from

2002 to 2008; and, the EPRT patent applications portfolio adapted, accordingly. In 2005, the

pursuit of patent for the product configuration, based upon theoriginal electrode wrap in the *519

Patent Application was the EPRT legal obiective. In 2005, the patent claims of the '519 Patent

Application were examined and in November 14, 2005, the Patent Office issued a Final Rejection

(RES Exh No. 8), Petitioner recommended the pursuit of an appeal "because we are entitled to

broader protection for the wrap'' (RES Exh No. 9). The Petitioner's recommendation was

followed, the appeal taken in 2006, and on June 1.2009. the Boardof PatentAppeals affirmed the

November 14, 2005, Final Rejection.

168. In about August 2008, while the appeal of the '519 Patent Application was

pending, EPRT (David Estes) conceived an improvement to EPRT product, specifically, the

development of "Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap'' to replace the "electrode wrap" of the

original EPRT product configuration and file a patent application for such improvement, RESExh

No, 10

169. In about August 2008, while the appeal of the '519 Patent Application was

pending. EPRT abandoned its initial product configuration with the original electrode wrap,
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170. In about August 2008, while the appeal of the '519 Patent Application was

pending. EPRT abandoned a number of the foreign equivalent patent and applications, based upon

the '519 Patent Application

171. On June h 2009, Board of Patent Appeals affirmed the November 14, 2005, Final

Rejection. The Board of Appeals Decision was res judicata as to the patentability of the claims

before the Board. No appeal or action was taken because the Petitioner never received it. Had

the Decision of the Board of Appeals been received by Petitioner, it would have been forwarded

to EPRT. No further action would have been recommended or undertaken by Petitioner, in

keeping with explicit directions to Petitioner in 2008. from the EPRT the Director of Research -

specifically, not to incur any additional legal fees in pursuit of the '519 Patent Application.

172. Accordingly, the ALJ Initial Opinion of September 15, 2016, and Director Final

Order of February 9, 2018, which adopted the ALJ Initial Opinion of September 15. 2016

finding Petitioner, a violation of 37 C.F.R. §10.84(a) for Failing to Seek EPRT's Lawful

Objectives, lacks substantial (admissible) evidence to establish a violation of i7 C.F.R.

§10.84(a), because (a) there is no direct evidence that Petitioner's did not forward adhere to the

explicit instructions of EPRT to direct his services to securing patent protection on the

improvement to the EPRT product, the Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap, and (b) the

circumstantial evidence as to lack of forwarding such correspondence does not exclude other

reasonable alternative inferences negating misconduct and/or wrongdoing, (c) such a violation to

the extent it may have occurred has been subsumed, under 37 CFR §11.104, in the Petitioner'

apparentacknowledge that EPRT has been kept "reasonably informed" and/or all of the evidence,

when considered in the aggregate, ''detracts from his conclusions'', of failing to seek the EPRT

"legal objectives". Accordingly, the Director Final Order of February 9, 2018, holding
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Petitioner in violation of 37 C.F.R. ^^10,23(c)(8)), must be reversed

(e) There is insufficientsubstantialy 37 C.F. R. §10.84(a admissibleevidence
to establish a violation of37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) for Refusins to return EPRT's
Client File when requestedbecause (a) there is no direct evidence that Petitioner's had
possessionf custody or control of the EPRT's Client File and (b) the circumstantial
evidence does not exclude other reasonable alternative inferences negating misconduct
and/or wrongdoing

173. The Petitioner incorporates paragraphs 1-44, as if restated herein and further

alleges.

174. At all times material hereto in 2011, Petitioner maintained a home office in his

personal residence in Miami, Florida. The home office contained computer equipment, electronic

files stored on portable media and hard copies of Patent Office files, including the EPRT patent

files.

175. Inabout August 2011, the Petitioner andhis second wifeconsulted counsel, relative

to the division of their marital property, in contemplation of divorce. The parties separated

periodically separated and reconciled thereafter, and ultimately became estranged in

September/October 2011. During thisperiod. Petitioner's second wifechanged the locks on their

marital home, and denied Petitioner access to the marital home, including the Petitioner's home

office and his office files. Accordingly, Petitioner lost access, custody and control over his

personal property in marital home, including his property in his home office.

176. On or about November 1,2011, Petitionerpermanently separatedfrom second wife,

and moved out of his marital home, taking only some clothes, his laptop computer and some

portable computer storage media, containinga limited numberof active client files.

177. Petitioner and his second wife were divorced in June 2012, and the marital home

was thereafter sold by his second wife.
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178. Upon information and belief. Petitioner's personal properly was discarded or sold

or remained in the marital home when.

179. The OED Grievant subsequently recovered the '519 Patent Application from

Petitioner's second wife during the malpractice litigation.

180. Accordingly, the ALJ Initial Opinion of September 15, 2016, and Director Final

Order of February 9, 2018, which adopted the ALJ Initial Opinion of September 15, 2016

finding Petitioner, a 27 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) - Refusing to return EPRT's Client File, must be

reversed because(a) there is no direct evidencethat Petitioner's had possession, custodyor control

over EPRT's Client File, when request to return it, RES Exh No. 50 - Petitioner's second wife

has retained and only produced when compelled to do so by EPRT, and in a malpractice action

Petitioner, and (b) the circumstantial evidence as Petitioner's had possession, custody or control

over EPRT's Client File, does not exclude other reasonable alternative inferences negating

misconduct and/or wrongdoing, and/or (c) all of the evidence, when considered in the aggregate,

''detractsfrom his conclusions'', of "refusing to return EPRT's Client File,. Accordingly, the

Director Final Order of February 9, 2018, holding Petitioner in violation of a 37 C.F.R. §

10.112(c)(4) must be reversed

VERIFICATION UNDER 28 USC 1726

Pursuant to 28 USC 1726, I hereby declare, under penalty of perjury, that the foregoing

statements in this Petition under LR 83.5 of the Federal District Court of the ED of Virginia, are

accurate and truthful, and those statements, where made upon information and belief, are believed

to be truthful and accurate.
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JOHN H. FARO, ESQ.
FARO & ASSOCIATES

1395 Brickell Avenue - Suite 800

Miami, FL 33131
Phone:305-761-6921

Fax: 305-726-0029

Email: JohnF75712@aoI.com

JohnF75712@gmail.com

John
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